Jaana Toikkanen

Functional studies on components of the secretory pathway of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*





Functional studies on components of the secretory pathway of Saccharomyces cerevisiae

Jaana Toikkanen

VTT Biotechnology and Food Research

Department of Biosciences Division of Genetics University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

To be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Science of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in the Auditorium 1041 at the Department of Biosciences, Biocenter, Viikinkaari 5, Helsinki, on June 11th, 1999, at 12 o'clock noon.



TECHNICAL RESEARCH CENTRE OF FINLAND ESPOO 1999 ISBN 951-38-5381-0 (soft back ed.) ISSN 1235-0621 (soft back ed.)

ISBN 951-38-5382-9 (URL: http://www.inf.vtt.fi/pdf/) ISSN 1455-0849 (URL: http://www.inf.vtt.fi/pdf/)

Copyright © Valtion teknillinen tutkimuskeskus (VTT) 1999

JULKAISIJA – UTGIVARE – PUBLISHER

Valtion teknillinen tutkimuskeskus (VTT), Vuorimiehentie 5, PL 2000, 02044 VTT puh. vaihde (09) 4561, faksi (09) 456 4374

Statens tekniska forskningscentral (VTT), Bergsmansvägen 5, PB 2000, 02044 VTT tel. växel (09) 4561, fax (09) 456 4374

Technical Research Centre of Finland (VTT), Vuorimiehentie 5, P.O.Box 2000, FIN–02044 VTT, Finland phone internat. + 358 9 4561, fax + 358 9 456 4374

VTT Bio- ja elintarviketekniikka, Geenitekniikka, Tietotie 2, PL 1500, 02044 VTT puh. vaihde (09) 4561, faksi (09) 455 2103

VTT Bio- och livsmedelsteknik, Genteknik, Datavägen 2, PB 1500, 02044 VTT tel. växel (09) 4561, fax (09) 455 2103

VTT Biotechnology and Food Research, Genetic Engineering, Tietotie 2, P.O.Box 1500, FIN–02044 VTT, Finland phone internat. + 358 9 4561, fax + 358 9 455 2103

Technical editing Maini Manninen

Toikkanen, Jaana. Functional studies on components of the secretory pathway of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Espoo 1999. Technical Research Centre of Finland, VTT Publications 389. 92 p. + app. 61 p.

Keywords yeast, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, genetic interactions, enhanced secretion, ER translocation, exocytosis, exocyst, heterologous proteins, *SS02, SEB1, SEB2,* SNAP receptors, plasma membrane

Abstract

SSO genes have been isolated as multicopy suppressors of *sec1-1*, a mutation in a late-acting *SEC* gene causing accumulation of post-Golgi vesicles at the restrictive temperature, and shown to encode the so-called target membrane SNAP receptors (t-SNAREs) in the plasma membrane of the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. The Sso proteins are type II membrane proteins that are capable of posttranslational membrane insertion independent of signal recognition particles (SRPs). Thus, they might be inserted to the plasma membrane directly instead of entering the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and being transported to their site of action along the biosynthetic pathway. The initial membrane insertion site of Sso2p in the secretory pathway was studied by transient expression of Sso2p was shown to be first inserted into the ER and then transported to the plasma membrane via the secretory pathway.

The Sso proteins are likely to be rate-limiting factors in the secretory machinery of *S. cerevisiae* because their overproduction enhanced by several fold the secretion of both a yeast protein, invertase, and a heterologous reporter protein, *Bacillus* α -amylase. Secretion to the periplasm was enhanced in the Sso2poverproducing strain, consistent with a previously suggested role for plasma membrane t-SNAREs as anchors in targeting/fusion of the secretory vesicles to the plasma membrane. The secretion enhancement by overproduction of components of the secretory machinery offers a novel, more generally applicable approach to increase the rather modest secretory capacity of *S. cerevisiae*. The secretory pathway of yeast has been considered to contain other bottle necks *e.g.* in the ER and the Golgi complex. Interestingly, overexpression of a newly discovered gene, *SEB1*, shown to encode a novel subunit of an ER translocon, also resulted in enhanced secretion.

SEB1 was cloned as a multicopy suppressor of *sec15-1*, a late-acting mutant gene. SEC15 shows an extensive pattern of genetic interactions with other late-

acting *SEC* genes and is, thus, considered to have a central function in post-Golgi transport. It encodes a component of a multisubunit complex called the exocyst, which is implicated in targeting/fusion of the secretory vesicles to the plasma membrane as an effector of Sec4p. Surprisingly, the nonessential *SEB1* gene encodes the evolutionarily conserved β subunit of the Sec61p complex, which functions in ER translocation. This unexpected finding prompted further studies on genetic interactions between *SEB1* and the genes encoding exocyst subunits. Interestingly, *SEB1*, unlike its close homologue, *SEB2*, could suppress mutations in all of the exocyst genes. Furthermore, overproduction of the other two components of the ER translocon, Sec61p or Sss1p, could also suppress defects in many of the exocyst mutants. The double disruption *seb1 Δseb2 Δ* in combination with either of two mutant genes encoding exocyst components, *sec10* or *sec15*, caused synthetic lethality, further strengthening the evidence for genetic interactions.

The genetic interactions observed were rather specific for the two complexes, the ER translocon and the exocyst. In addition, overexpression of *SEC1* or *SSO2* could also suppress all the exocyst mutants except one and on the other hand all the genes encoding components of the Sec61p complex could suppress *sec1-1* when overexpressed. These results suggest a closer interplay between the ER translocon, exocyst complex and plasma membrane t-SNARE than has previously been anticipated.

Preface

This work was carried out at VTT Biotechnology and Food Research (formerly VTT Biotechnical Laboratory) during the years 1994 - 1999. I am grateful to Research Director, Professor Juha Ahvenainen and Research Professor Hans Söderlund for excellent working facilities and their supportive and encouraging attitude towards my thesis work. Hans Söderlund is also thanked for collaboration. I thank Professor Tapio Palva at the Department of Biosciences, Division of Genetics, University of Helsinki for his co-operation during the final stage of my studies. Doctor Marjo Simonen and Professor Hans Ronne are thanked for critical reading of my thesis and useful comments on it.

My warmest thanks are due to Docent Sirkka Keränen, my supervisor. She has taught me a great deal about yeast genetics and various other things during these years. Her never-ending enthusiasm has really impressed me. During her sabbatical 1994 - 1995 at Yale University I had a chance to join her there for four months. I am grateful for that experience and wish to thank Professor Pietro de Camilli for welcoming me to visit his group and for fruitful collaboration. I also thank Doctor Patrick Brennwald for helping me, a first-year graduate student by that time, with many practical problems dealing with my work.

I warmly thank my co-authors Christian Ehnholm, Evelina Gatti, Jussi Jäntti, Esa Kuismanen, Vesa Olkkonen, Mika Outola, Laura Ruohonen, Markku Saloheimo, Kohji Takei and Ville Tieaho for collaboration. Docents Vesa Olkkonen and Markku Saloheimo are also thanked for many useful discussions and for providing me with the support of a senior scientist during Sirkka's sabbatical. Riitta Lampinen and Outi Könönen are thanked for the skilled technical assistance and for being so pleasant and flexible to work with. The technical assistance of Hanna Karmakka is also acknowledged. The supporting services in the lab provided by Mirjami Pelkonen and Kati Sulin have been greatly appreciated. I am grateful to John Londesborough for revising the language of my thesis and to Oili Lappalainen for proficient secretarial assistance.

During these years the number of people working in the yeast/fungi lab has expanded a great deal. Thus, without mentioning the names, I want to thank all the members of the lab, especially those working in the group of Sirkka Keränen, and others working at the division of Genetic Engineering for creating such a nice, friendly and supportive working atmosphere. My dearest colleagues are Nina Aro and Jussi Jäntti. The humour we share has brightened many days and helped me to continue the struggle with my research. I also thank Mari Valkonen and Tuija Vasara, among others, for their friendship. My thanks are due to my closest ones, both friends and family, for the support and understanding over these years. Also, all the fun and relaxing moments offscience have been greatly appreciated. Lastly, my dearest thanks are due to my parents, Eeva and Yrjö Toikkanen, for their caring, support and encouragement during these years.

The financial support of this work from the Academy of Finland (Grant No. 8244) is gratefully acknowledged.

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following articles and a submitted manuscript which are referred to as I-IV in the text, and on unpublished results presented in the text.

- I Jäntti, J., Keränen, S., Toikkanen, J., Kuismanen, E., Ehnholm, C., Söderlund, H. and Olkkonen, V. M. 1994. Membrane insertion and intracellular transport of yeast syntaxin Sso2p in mammalian cells. J. Cell Sci. **107**, 3623-3633.
- II Toikkanen, J., Gatti, E., Takei, K., Saloheimo, M., Olkkonen, V. M., Söderlund, H., De Camilli, P. and Keränen, S. 1996. Yeast protein translocation complex: Isolation of two genes *SEB1* and *SEB2* encoding proteins homologous to the Sec61β subunit. Yeast 12, 425-438.
- III Ruohonen, L., Toikkanen, J., Tieaho, V., Outola, M., Söderlund, H. and Keränen, S. 1997. Enhancement of protein secretion in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by overproduction of Sso protein, a late-acting component of the secretory machinery. Yeast 13, 337-351.
- IV Toikkanen, J. and Keränen, S. Genetic screens reveal functional interactions between ER translocon, exocyst complex and plasma membrane t-SNARE in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Submitted.

Contents

ABSTF	RACT	3
PREFA	.CE	5
LIST C	PF PUBLICATIONS	7
ABBRI	EVIATIONS	10
1. INT	TRODUCTION	11
1.1	The yeast secretory pathway	11
1.2	ER translocation	14
	1.2.1 Cotranslational translocation	15
	1.2.2 Posttranslational translocation	17
	1.2.3 The signal sequence, SRP and SR	18
	1.2.4 The Sec61p and Ssh1p complexes	20
	1.2.5 The Sec62p-Sec63p complex	22
1.3	Protein maturation	24
1.4	Protein maintenance in the ER and ERAD	25
	1.4.1 Retrotranslocation and ERAD	25
	1.4.2 ER retention and retrieval	27
1.5	Exocytosis	28
	1.5.1 The SNARE hypothesis and membrane fusion	29
	1.5.2 SEC1	33
	1.5.3 SSO genes and MSO1	33
	1.5.4 Conserved protein families in vesicular transport	34
	1.5.5 The exocyst complex	36
	1.5.6 Polarised secretion	37
1.6	The production of heterologous proteins in the yeast Saccharomyces	
	cerevisiae	41
	1.6.1 Saccharomyces cerevisiae as a production host	41
	1.6.2 Factors affecting the production and secretion of heterologous	
	proteins	41
	1.6.3 Attempts to enhance the secretion of heterologous proteins	42
1.7	Aims of the study	43

2.	MA	TERL	ALS AND METHODS	.44		
3.	RES	SULTS	S AND DISCUSSION	.46		
	3.1	Trans	port of Sso2p to the plasma membrane along the secretory			
pathway						
		3.1.1	The site of membrane insertion of Sso2p in the secretory pathway	.46		
		3.1.2	Membrane association and posttranslational insertion of Sso2p	48		
	3.2	SEB1	encodes the β subunit of the yeast Sec61p complex	.49		
		3.2.1	Cloning of SEB genes and characterisation of their encoded			
			proteins	.49		
		3.2.2	SEB1 interacts genetically with SEC61 and genes encoding			
			the components of the exocyst	.50		
		3.2.3	Simultaneous disruption of SEB genes with SEM1 deletion			
			causes a synthetic phenotype (unpublished)	.51		
		3.2.4	Overproduction of components of the ER translocon can			
			rescue the temperature sensitivity of the exocyst mutants	.53		
	3.3	Enha	ncement of protein secretion in S. cerevisiae	.54		
		3.3.1	Secretion enhancement by overproduction of components			
			of the yeast secretory pathway	.54		
		3.3.2	A novel approach for enhancement of secretion	.57		
	3.4	A mo	del for the functional interplay between ER translocon,			
		exocy	vst and Sso2p	.58		
4.	CO	NCLU	SIONS	.62		
RE	FER	ENCE	ES	.63		
AP	PEN	DICE	S			

Appendices of this publication are not included in the PDF version. Please order the printed version to get the complete publication (http://www.inf.vtt.fi/pdf/publications/1999/)

Abbreviations

ADH1	gene encoding Alcohol dehydrogenase I
BFA	brefeldin A
BHK	baby hamster kidney
COP	coatomer protein
CPY	carboxypeptidase Y
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERAD	ER associated degradation
GEF	guanine nucleotide exchange factor
MDCK	Madin-Darby canine kidney
NAC	nascent-polypeptide-associated complex
NSF	N-ethylmaleimide sensitive fusion protein
OST	oligosaccharyl transferase complex
PAGE	polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PDI	Protein disulphide isomerase
RAMP 4	ribosome-associated membrane protein 4
RNC	ribosome-nascent chain complex
scR1	small cytoplasmic RNA
SDS	sodium dodecylsulphate
SFV	Semliki Forest virus
SEC	gene involved in protein secretion
sec	mutant SEC gene
SNAP	soluble NSF attachment protein
SNAP25	synaptosome associated protein of 25 kDa
SNARE	SNAP receptor
SPC	signal peptidase complex
SRP	signal recognition particle
SR	SRP receptor
TRAM	translocating-chain-associated membrane protein
TRAP	translocon-associated membrane protein
ts	temperature sensitive
t-SNARE targe	et membrane SNAP receptor
VAMP	vesicle associated membrane protein
v-SNARE	vesicle SNAP receptor
wt	wild type

1. Introduction

Yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is a good model organism for biological studies for several reasons. It is genetically the best known eukaryote and at the end of April 1996 became the first such organism whose complete genome sequence was public knowledge. Currently the genome is also under systematic functional analysis. *S. cerevisiae* is easy and inexpensive to grow in the laboratory and genetic and fermentation techniques are well developed for this organism. Many proteins and protein families involved in protein secretion are conserved from yeast to man. Therefore, the unicellular yeast *S. cerevisiae* serves as a good model and tool for studies of secretory transport in higher eukaryotes.

S. cerevisiae has been utilised by man for thousands of years in brewing beer, baking bread and making wine. More recently, *S. cerevisiae* has been used also as a host for production of heterologous proteins. Furthermore, the tractable genetic methods available are being utilised as tools for various screening procedures *e.g.* in drug development (see *e.g.* Broach and Thorner, 1996). Despite its many advantages as a production host, its secretory capacity is rather low. Therefore, understanding the molecular basis of the events taking place on the secretory pathway is of major importance also in order to be able to improve the secretory efficiency.

1.1 The yeast secretory pathway

Eukaryotic cells contain membrane-enclosed compartments, organelles, which have specialised functions and contain unique combination of proteins, lipids and cofactors. Proteins destined to these organelles can enter only a few of them directly from the cytosol. Thus, many proteins have to be sorted and further distributed to their final destination (Nunnari and Walter, 1996). The distribution takes place in transport vesicles and the transported proteins need to contain signal sequences in order to be first translocated into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), the entry point of the secretory pathway, and then transported further to the target site. In addition to maintaining the cell dynamics, the secretory pathway is used for the delivery of proteins and membrane and cell wall components to the growing bud area as the cell divides and for secreting proteins out of the cell.

Today well over 100 genes involved in protein secretion in yeast have been identified (Figure 1). Also, an estimation that 10 - 20% of the approximately



Figure 1. Schematic presentation of the secretory and endocytic pathway of S. cerevisiae and the genes involved in it. Modified and updated from Kaiser et al., 1997.

1. Transloca	ation	2. Matu in ER	ration	3. Vesic Budding	le 4. Ves g Fusio	sicle n	5. Transport Through Golgi	6. Targeting and Fusion
SSA1-4 YDJ1 SRP54 SEC65 SRP14 SRP21 SRP68 SRP72 SCR1 SEC61 SSS1 SEC61 SSS1 SEC63 SEC62 SEC71 SEC72 KAR2 LHS1 SCJ1 SAC1	SEC11 PDI1 EUG1 MPD1 CNE1 IRE1 KAR2 LHS1 VMA12 VMA21 VMA22 SHR3	SEC12 SED4 SAR1 SEC16 SEC13 SEC23 SEC24 BST1 EMP24 ERV25		SEC1 SEC1 SEC2 BET1 BOS1 BET3 YPT1 BET2 BET4 MRS6 SED5 SLY1 YKT6 USO1 SEC7	SEC17 SEC18 SEC22/SLP2 BET1 BOS1 BET3 YPT1 BET2 BET4 MRS6 SED5 SLY1 YKT6 USO1 SEC7	SEC14 SFT1 PMR1 MNN9 VAN1 VRG4 ANP1 ERD1	with Plasma Membrane SEC1 SEC2 SEC3 SEC4 SEC5 SEC6 SEC8 SEC9 SEC10 SEC15 SNC1,2 SS01,2 ACT1 MY02 SMY1 TPM1 GD11 DSS4 SEC4 CHD	
	7. Re ERD SEC SEC SEC SEC RET ARF GCS GEA UFE RER RER RER	etrival 2 26 27 21 2 3 1,2 1,2 1,2 1 1,2 1 1 2 3	8. Golg Endoso VPS10 VPS45 PEP12 VPS1 VVS1 MVP1 CHC1 CHC1 CHC1 CHC1 APL2 APL4 APM1 APS1 PEP7	ți to ome /YPT51	9. Endoc END3 SLA2 VRP1 END6 RVS161 RVS167 END8-11 ACT1 SAC6 MYO3,5 CMD1 CHC1 CLC1	eytosis !	10. Endosome to Vacuole YPT7 YPT52, 53 VAM3/PTH1 NYV1 VPS34 SLP1/VPS33 DNM1	SEC4-GAP EXO70 MSO1 SEM1

6300 genes of *S. cerevisiae* would encode proteins either traversing or functioning in the secretory pathway has been presented (Kaiser *et al.*, 1997). The yeast secretory pathway was originally defined by secretory mutants. Peter Novick and Randy Schekman isolated a number of temperature sensitive (ts) secretory (*sec*) mutants, that failed to export active invertase or acid phosphatase at the restrictive temperature of 37° C although the protein synthesis could continue for several hours, and there was no secretory defect at a permissive temperature (25° C). Among these mutants were *sec1-1* and *sec2-1* (Novick and Schekman, 1979). The *sec1-1* cells became dense due to vesicle accumulation at the restrictive temperature. The increased cell mass enabled the use of Ludox density gradients for mutant enrichment and led to the isolation of a further set of *sec* mutants (Novick *et al.*, 1980).

The *sec* mutants were originally divided into three classes. Class A contains 200 mutants in 23 complementation groups and represents genes that are genuinely involved in secretion (Novick and Schekman, 1979; Novick *et al.* 1980; Novick, 1985). Instead, mutants of class B did not accumulate active invertase even though proteins were synthesised at the restrictive temperature, and protein synthesis as such was temperature sensitive in class C mutants (Novick *et al.*, 1980). Further genes have since been identified and they are divided into distinct functional groups according to the transport step in which they are involved: ER entry, budding from ER, targeting to the Golgi complex, budding from Golgi or targeting to the plasma membrane in addition to the endosomal and vacuolar targeting steps (Figure 1).

The order of the transport events in the secretory pathway was first shown in mammalian cells (Palade, 1975). Novick *et al.* (1981) applied this to the yeast secretory pathway by using double mutant analysis. The order of three energy consuming transport steps, ER-to-Golgi, Golgi-to-vesicles and vesicles-to-cell surface, was independently confirmed by studies on glycosylation of invertase in the mutants (Esmon *et al.*, 1981). The *sec* mutants are powerful tools in analysis of the secretory pathway and the small number of secretory precursors present in the yeast cells makes the experimental system sensitive in evaluation of the phenotypes caused by the mutations. In addition to these, *in vitro* techniques are important in studying the mechanisms of secretory transport in yeast (Schekman, 1982).

1.2 ER translocation

Protein synthesis takes place in the cytoplasm and the nascent polypeptides, which are destined for the cell organelles, plasma membrane or cell exterior, enter the secretory pathway via translocation into the ER. Eukaryotic cells can

transport proteins across the ER membrane either cotranslationally (*e.g.* invertase in yeast) or posttranslationally (*e.g.* prepro- α -factor in yeast) (Hansen *et al.*, 1986; Rothblatt and Meyer, 1986; Hansen and Walter, 1988). Cotranslational translocation is predominative in most mammalian cells, but in *S. cerevisiae* both pathways are widely used (reviewed by Rapoport *et al.*, 1996). Numerous proteins on the ER membrane participate in the translocation of nascent polypeptides, and *in vitro* techniques with proteoliposomes containing purified components have been used in combination with yeast genetics in detailed studies on the translocation events. Although the key components (Figure 2) have been identified and an image of the tertiary structure of the translocon has been obtained with electron microscopy, the exact functions of most of the subunits are still unclear (reviewed by Kalies and Hartmann, 1998).

1.2.1 Cotranslational translocation

In mammals the Sec61p complex, the signal recognition particle (SRP) receptor (SR) and, for most proteins, the translocating-chain-associated membrane protein (TRAM) are sufficient membrane protein components for the cotranslational translocation in vitro (Görlich et al., 1992; Görlich and Rapoport, 1993), although additional components with possibly stimulatory role exist. According to the mammalian model the first step of ER targeting is the recognition of the signal sequence in a ribosome-bound nascent polypeptide by an SRP in the cytosol. The SRP is then bound to the ribosome. This causes GTP to bind to a subunit of SRP called SRP54, which binds also the signal sequence. Elongation of nascent chain is arrested and the complex of ribosome, nascent chain and the SRP becomes bound to the ER membrane via interactions of the SRP with its receptor SR, and of the ribosome with the Sec61p complex (Rapoport, 1992; Walter and Johnson, 1994; Rapoport et al., 1996). Additional components like nascent-polypeptide-associated complex (NAC) may be involved in assisting proper targeting (Wiedmann et al., 1994). The SRP is then released from the ribosome and the signal sequence, and the SRP-SR complex is dissociated in a reaction that hydrolyses GTP. The SRP is delivered to the cytosol for successive cycles of use. Until now, the ribosome-nascent chain complex has been bound to the Sec61p complex only weakly. Once the signal sequence is recognised in the membrane, the nascent chain will be inserted into the translocation site firmly. The signal sequence contacts the Sec61p complex, the TRAM and the phospholipids of the membrane and the translocation channel opens toward the lumen of the ER. While the nascent chain is elongated, it is transferred across the membrane through the protein conducting channel formed by the Sec61p complex (Rapoport, 1992; Walter and Johnson, 1994; Rapoport et al., 1996).



Figure 2. The subunit composition of the co- and posttranslational ER translocation complexes in yeast. *The Sec61p complex functions both* in cotranslational (A) and posttranslational (B) translocation. In the former it is tightly connected with the ribosome and in the latter constitutes together with the Sec62p-Sec63p complex a heptameric Sec complex. The SRP and its receptor SR, Kar2p and Sec63p are other participants in the cotranslational translocation. Additional components may facilitate the translocation of a nascent chain. A homologous translocon, the Ssh1p complex, is reported to also function in cotranslational translocation. In addition to the Sec complex, Kar2p, ATP and possibly cytosolic chaperone proteins to keep the nascent chain in a translocation competent conformation are involved in the posttranslational translocation.

The TRAM protein needed for the early steps of the cotranslational transport (Görlich et al., 1992) was recently shown to have novel regulatory roles in the translocational pausing of a secretory protein and possibly in preventing exposure to the cytosol of the already translocated domains of the nascent polypeptide (Hedge et al., 1998). The signal peptidase complex (SPC) and the oligosaccharyl transferase complex (OST) modify the nascent chain during its translocation. Other factors of presently unknown function involved in cotranslational translocation are ribosome-associated membrane protein 4 (RAMP 4) (Görlich and Rapoport, 1993), the translocon-associated membrane protein (TRAP) complex (Hartmann et al., 1993), and the proteins p180 (Savitz and Meyer, 1990; 1993) and p34 (Tazawa et al., 1991). In yeast the presence of TRAM and RAMP 4 homologues is currently unknown, and there are no homologues of TRAP, p180 or p34 (reviewed by Kalies and Hartmann, 1998). Recently, an initial characterisation of the yeast NAC was reported (Reimann et al., 1999). Moreover, yeast has another trimeric translocon functioning only in the cotranslational translocation, the Ssh1p complex, which is a duplicated copy of the Sec61p complex (Finke et al., 1996).

1.2.2 Posttranslational translocation

The targeting in posttranslational translocation in yeast is independent of SRP and SR. Instead, the Sec62p-Sec63p complex is required (Rothblatt *et al.*, 1989; Hann and Walter, 1991; Ng *et al.*, 1996) and forms together with the Sec61p complex a heptameric Sec complex (Deshaies *et al.*, 1991; Panzner *et al.* 1995). *In vitro*, the Sec complex, together with ATP and Kar2p, the yeast Bip homologue (Normington *et al.*, 1989; Rose *et al.*, 1989), was shown to be sufficient for posttranslational translocation both in presence and absence of microsomal membranes (Panzner *et al.*, 1995; Matlack *et al.*, 1997). When translation of the precursor in the cytosol is ended and the precursor is released from the ribosome, the signal sequence targets the precursor polypeptide to the binding site on the cytosolic face of the Sec complex. The binding of the nascent chain to the Sec complex is independent of ATP. However, in the subsequent step Kar2p interacts with the lumenal side of the Sec complex, ATP is hydrolysed, and the precursor passes through the translocon to be released into the lumen (Lyman and Schekman, 1997; Matlack *et al.*, 1997).

In addition to the Sec complex, both cytosolic and lumenal chaperones are implicated in the posttranslational ER translocation. The cytosolic heat shock proteins of the Hsp70 family may be required for keeping the polypeptide in a translocation competent conformation (Chirico *et al.*, 1988; Deshaies *et al.*, 1988). Kar2p is indicated to be essential for both co- and posttranslational translocation in an ATP-consuming manner (Vogel *et al.*, 1990; Sanders *et al.*,

1992, Brodsky *et al.*, 1995; Panzner *et al.*, 1995), although a fraction of prepro- α factor has been reported to translocate *in vitro* even in the absence of Kar2p and ATP (Panzner *et al.*, 1995).

Kar2p is needed for several functions during the translocation event: association of the precursor with the translocation channel, release of the precursor from the docking site formed by the Sec complex, translocation of the precursor through the translocon and completion of the passage through it (Sanders *et al.*, 1992; Lyman and Schekman, 1995; Lyman and Schekman, 1997; Matlack et al., 1997). However, according to a recent report of Plath et al. (1998), the insertion of the precursor chain into the translocation channel does not require Kar2p in vitro. Kar2p interacts with the lumenal J domain of Sec63p (Brodsky and Schekman, 1993; Scidmore et al., 1993; Schlenstedt et al., 1995; Corsi and Schekman, 1997; McClellan et al., 1998) and is suggested to determine the directionality of the translocation. Two different models for accomplishing this task have been suggested. According to the molecular ratchet model, Kar2p binds to the polypeptide chain when it emerges in the lumen and prevents the chain from sliding back (Simon et al., 1992). Another model suggests a more active, pulling role for the Kar2p (Glick, 1995). Furthermore, the yeast Kar2p assists folding of proteins (Simons et al., 1995), and the mammalian Bip has been shown to act as a permeability barrier on the lumenal end of the translocon (Hamman et al., 1998).

1.2.3 The signal sequence, SRP and SR

The basic mechanism of cotranslational translocation appears to be conserved from prokaryotes to eukaryotes. This is evidenced by the interchangeability of the signal sequences, signal recognition particles and their receptors among different species *in vitro* (Gierasch, 1989; Powers and Walter, 1997). Signal sequences function in targeting of the proteins to the secretory route. They are very heterogeneous, but contain certain common features that are essential for protein export. These features are a hydrophobic core of 7-15 amino acids, that is preceded by an amino-terminal positively charged region and followed by a polar region where signal peptidase cleavage occurs (von Heijne, 1985; 1986). The exact amino acid sequence is not crucial for the signal peptide to be functional. Kaiser *et al.* (1987) have shown that numerous varied sequences can replace the signal sequence of invertase and lead to correct transport.

The signal sequence is suggested to participate in the opening of the translocation channel (Simon and Blobel, 1992; Crowley *et al.*, 1994; Jungnickel and Rapoport, 1995). The amino acid composition of the hydrophobic core of the signal sequence and the length of the preceding amino-

terminal domain can affect the TRAM dependency of a nascent chain (Voigt *et al.*, 1996). According to Ng *et al.* (1996) the hydrophobicity of a signal sequence determines the mode of translocation of the precursor peptide. A more hydrophobic signal sequence is likely to lead to the cotranslational SRP-dependent translocation whereas a less hydrophobic sequence is used in an SRP-independent posttranslational manner. In addition, they found that some precursors can be translocated via both pathways.

Recognition of the signal sequence is suggested to include two steps that affect the translocation efficiency: an SRP-mediated targeting step and a step involving components of the translocon at the ER membrane (Jungnickel and Rapoport, 1995; Belin et al., 1996). According to recent reports the SRP enhances the binding of the ribosome-nascent chain complex (RNC) to the ER membrane irrespective of the presence or absence of the NAC (Neuhof et al., 1998; Raden and Gilmore, 1998) thus bringing into question the importance of the NAC in this process (Wiedmann et al., 1994). The function and subunit composition of the SRP is conserved in evolution. However, unlike the eukaryotic SRPs, the bacterial SRP is reported to be required for the membrane insertion of certain polytopic integral membrane proteins (Ulbrandt et al., 1997). The composition of the SRP, – 7S RNA and six polypeptides denoted by their molecular masses in kilo Daltons (kDa) SRP9, SRP14, SRP19, SRP54, SRP68 and SRP72, - was first uncovered in a mammalian system (Walter and Blobel, 1980; 1982). The signal sequence binding ability of the 54 kDa subunit was shown with cross-linking experiments (Krieg et al., 1986; Kurzchalia et al., 1986). Consistent with the important function, the sequence homology of this subunit is the highest among different species, and has allowed isolation of the yeast homologues (Bernstein et al., 1989; Hann et al., 1989; Römisch et al., 1989; Amaya et al., 1990).

Srp54p, Sec65p and small cytoplasmic RNA (scR1) were the first SRP components identified in *S. cerevisiae* (Hann *et al.*, 1989; Hann and Walter, 1991; Hann *et al.*, 1992; Stirling and Hewitt, 1992). The use of immunoaffinity chromatography with antibodies against Sec65p enabled the purification of yeast SRP and isolation of five additional proteins (Brown *et al.*, 1996). Four of them are homologous to the mammalian SRP subunits and were, unlike the previously identified subunits, shown to be required for the stability of the complex in yeast. The lack of functional yeast SRP, however, is not lethal. Instead, it leads to reduced growth rate of the cells and a defect in translocation of certain proteins (Hann and Walter, 1991; Brown *et al.*, 1996). Interestingly, adaptation to this situation has been observed. Ogg *et al.* (1992) showed that after extended growth cells with disrupted genes encoding SRP subunits had only mild defects in translocation. The growth rate, though, was not restored to

the normal level. The yeast SRP receptor, which is a heterodimer formed by α and β subunits, is not essential for viability either. However, depletion of its subunits leads to the same phenotype as observed when SRP components are depleted (Ogg *et al.*, 1992; Miller *et al.*, 1995).

1.2.4 The Sec61p and Ssh1p complexes

Protein translocation into the ER has been suggested to occur via a hydrophilic protein conducting channel (Simon and Blobel, 1991). The first evidence involving Sec61p in this channel in both mammals (Mothes *et al.*, 1994) and yeast (Müsch *et al.*, 1992; Sanders *et al.*, 1992) came from crosslinking experiments. *In vitro* experiments using proteoliposomes containing purified protein components then showed that the trimeric Sec61p complex is necessary for the translocation, thus further confirming its channel-forming role (Görlich and Rapoport, 1993; Panzner *et al.*, 1995). Finally, Hanein *et al.* (1996) directly visualised oligomers representing mammalian and yeast translocation pores. These oligomeric structures were formed by 3 to 4 trimeric Sec61p complexes and contained a pore with a diameter of approximately 20 Å.

The pore formation was induced by binding of the ribosome or the Sec62p-Sec63p complex to the Sec61p complex. Thus, Sec61p is considered to be the core component of the translocation machinery: it assembles with the Sec62p-Sec63p complex for posttranslational translocation, and it forms a tight conjunction with a ribosome in order to build the translocation channel for cotranslational transport (Deshaies *et al.*, 1991; Crowley *et al.*, 1994; Kalies *et al.*, 1994; Panzner *et al*, 1995; Hanein *et al.*, 1996). Also free trimeric Sec61p complexes have been found (Hanein *et al.*, 1996), and the channel is capable of releasing proteins laterally into the ER membrane itself (Simon and Blobel, 1991; Martoglio *et al.*, 1995). The diameter of mammalian translocon pores is reported to alter depending on the presence of ribosomes and the functional state of the pore (Hamman *et al.*, 1998). Since the Sec61p complex can exist as part of the Sec complex and in ribosome-bound or free form, the pore size of the yeast translocons is likely to vary in the same way.

The components of the Sec61p are evolutionarily conserved (Görlich *et al.*, 1992; Stirling *et al.*, 1992; Hartmann *et al.*, 1994) with respect to their function and sequence similarity. Sec61 α /Sec61 β /Sec61 γ are subunits of the mammalian Sec61p complex, Sec61p, Sbh1p/Seb1p and Sss1p those of yeast and SecY/SecG/SecE of bacteria. Sec61p is a 52 kDa integral membrane protein that spans the membrane ten times (Stirling *et al.*, 1992; Wilkinson *et al.*, 1996). Consistent with the important function of Sec61p, the gene encoding it is essential (Stirling *et al.*, 1992).

The conditional lethal mutants in yeast have been valuable in studies on the function and interactions of the Sec61p. The previously isolated ts sec61-2 and sec61-3 mutations, however, have been shown to destabilise the structure of Sec61p rather than to impair its function in translocation (Sommer and Jentsch, 1993; Esnault et al., 1994; Biederer et al., 1996). Recently, several sec61 mutants were isolated with defects both in co- and posttranslational ER translocation and in export from the ER (Pilon et al., 1997; Pilon et al., 1998). These cold sensitive mutants were defective because of malfunction of the protein rather than reduced stability, and they were divided into two classes according to the stage at which they manifest their defect. In the mutants of the first class, the interactions of the nascent polypeptide precursor with Sec72p of the precursor docking site formed by the Sec complex were almost abolished. The mutants of the second class were able to crosslink the precursor to the Sec72p, but with reduced efficiency, and the subsequent release of the precursor in the presence of ATP was blocked. Thus, with these mutants, Pilon et al. (1998) were able to characterise the involvement of Sec61p in two early stages of translocation before the precursor protein transport across the membrane, and they suggested a role for Sec61p in transition of the translocon pore from a closed to an open state.

The other two subunits are small tail-anchored membrane proteins of less than 10 kDa. The yeast β subunit (Sbh1p/Seb1p) has been identified independently by both biochemical and genetic means (Panzner *et al.*, 1995; II). Unlike the other two components, Sbh1p/Seb1p is encoded by a nonessential gene that in yeast has a homologue (Finke *et al.*, 1996; II). The homologous gene *SBH2/SEB2* is also nonessential, but simultaneous disruption of both *SBH/SEB* genes causes a temperature sensitive growth defect with only mildly impaired protein translocation to the ER. Therefore, the role of Sbh/Seb proteins in ER translocation in yeast is still unclear.

The role of β subunits in other organisms is also rather ambiguous. The mammalian Sec61 β is not essential for the cotranslational translocation, but it has been suggested to have a stimulatory role in it. Kalies *et al.* (1998) have shown that Sec61 β is not required for the docking of ribosome-nascent chain complex to the Sec61p complex, but surmise that it is needed later for insertion of the nascent chain to the translocation channel. In addition, the protein interacts with a subunit of the signal peptidase complex (SPC). Based on this, Kalies *et al.* (1998) have suggested that Sec61 β transiently recruits SPC to the translocation of nascent chains. The prokaryotic counterpart, SecG, also known as Band 1 and p12, is a polytopic membrane protein structurally quite different from eukaryotic β subunits and is not required for protein translocation under

standard growth conditions although its presence accelerates translocation across the cytoplasmic membrane (Brundage *et al.*, 1990; Douville *et al.*, 1994; Akimaru *et al.*, 1991; Nishiyama *et al.*, 1993; Nishiyama *et al.*, 1994).

The essential gene encoding the yeast γ subunit was cloned as a multicopy suppressor of a *sec61-2* ts mutation, thus the name *SSS1* for suppressor of *sec* sixty one. The essentiality of Sss1p in translocation was demonstrated with depletion experiments in which the translocation of α factor, carboxypeptidase Y (CPY) and invertase was defective (Esnault *et al.* 1993). The suppression of mutant Sec61p has been shown to be due to a stabilising effect of Sss1p on Sec61p. Furthermore, the interactions of the α and γ subunits are mutually stabilising: the *sec61* mutation destabilises Sss1p (Esnault *et al.*, 1994; Biederer *et al.*, 1996). Recently, Sss1p was shown to bind to the same regions on Sec61p as do the signal sequences (Plath *et al.*, 1998). In addition, it has been hypothesised that, together with the channel-forming Sec61p, Sss1p forms the most basic translocation machinery (Finke *et al.*, 1996; Plath *et al.*, 1998).

Yeast has another trimeric complex functioning in ER translocation. The α subunit of it is Ssh1p, a homologue of Sec61p, and the β subunit, Sbh2p/Seb2p, is a homologue of Sbh1p/Seb1p. Interestingly, Sss1p was isolated also as a subunit of the Ssh1p complex (Finke *et al.*, 1996). Despite the sequence similarity, the α and β subunits of the Sec61p and Ssh1p complexes are not normally interchangeable and the *SSH1* gene is not essential for viability although its deletion reduces the growth rate of the cells. However, the β subunit of the Ssh1p complex is able to interact the α subunit of the Sec61p complex is believed to function only in cotranslational translocation as judged by translocation studies and its ability to interact with ribosomes but not with the Sec62p-Sec63p complex. Thus, the Ssh1p complex has been suggested to be required when cotranslational function of the Sec61p complex becomes limiting (Finke *et al.*, 1996).

1.2.5 The Sec62p-Sec63p complex

Sec62p, Sec63p, Sec71p and Sec72p form together with the Sec61p complex a heptameric Sec complex that in addition to Kar2p is required for post-translational ER translocation (Deshaies *et al.*, 1991; Brodsky and Schekman, 1993; Panzner *et al.*, 1995). Sec62p and Sec63p are integral membrane proteins that are encoded by essential genes (Deshaies and Schekman, 1989; Rothblatt *et al.*, 1989; Sadler *et al.*, 1989; Deshaies and Schekman, 1990; Feldheim *et al.*, 1992). The nonessential *SEC66/SEC71* and *SEC72* genes encode integral and

cytosol-facing peripheral membrane proteins, respectively (Feldheim *et al.*, 1993; Feldheim and Schekman, 1994). Their deletion or ts mutations cause defects of variable extent in translocation of certain secretory proteins such as α factor precursor, CPY, invertase and Kar2p (Green *et al.*, 1992; Feldheim *et al.*, 1993; Kurihara and Silver, 1993; Fang and Green, 1994; Feldheim and Schekman, 1994).

Sec63p contains an ER lumenal DnaJ-like domain that interacts with the DnaKlike domain of the lumenal Hsp70 homologue Kar2p (Brodsky and Schekman, 1993; Scidmore et al., 1993). Furthermore, the lumenal DnaJ-like domain is sufficient to prompt the hydrolysis of ATP by Kar2p, which is essential for ER translocation (Corsi and Schekman, 1997). Sec63p and Kar2p have been suggested to be involved in early events of translocation (Sanders et al., 1992; Lyman and Schekman, 1995). Lyman and Schekman (1997) have later specified their roles in them by showing that Sec63p-Kar2p interaction is required for ATP-dependent release of a nascent chain from the Sec62p-Sec63p complex. According to Brodsky et al. (1995), Sec63p and Kar2p are required also for cotranslational translocation in vitro. In accordance, overproduction of Sec63p was able to suppress the cotranslational translocation defect in cold sensitive sec61 mutant cells more efficiently than the posttranslational defect (Pilon et al., 1998). Panzner et al. (1995), however, were unable to detect the association of Sec62p-Sec63p complex with the membrane-bound ribosomes in the reconstituted system. Therefore, the role of Sec63p in cotranslational translocation needs further examination.

The heptameric Sec complex is necessary for precursor docking to the ER membrane in posttranslational translocation in vitro. Only the intact Sec complex, and neither Sec61p complex nor Sec62p-Sec63p complex, is sufficient for forming the oligomeric structures and binding the signal sequences. This suggests that the channel formation may be a prerequisite for the binding of a signal sequence (Hanein et al., 1996; Matlack et al., 1997). Furthermore, the presence of Sec61p in the complex is not enough. It must also be functional (Pilon et al., 1998). In addition to Sec61p, all the subunits of the Sec62p-Sec63p complex have been shown to be present in the binding site (Lyman and Schekman 1997; Pilon et al., 1998). Based on studies in vitro with dominant KAR2 mutants, an ATP-dependent conformational change of Kar2p has been suggested to be necessary both for the Sec63p binding and the forwarding of the translocation reaction (McClellan et al., 1998). Similarly, conformational changes of Sec63p and Sec61p or the other subunits of the complex may be necessary for the release of precursor from the binding site (Corsi and Schekman, 1997; Lyman and Schekman, 1997; Pilon et al., 1998).

1.3 Protein maturation

Several events in the ER, which is an oxidising environment with a high concentration of chaperones, are responsible for maturation and secretion competence of the translocated precursor protein. The signal sequence is cleaved off, disulphide bonds are formed and the nascent chain is folded, oligomerized, and possibly acylated or glycosylated. Furthermore, there is so-called quality control machinery to ensure that an immature or malfolded protein will not escape the ER for further transport along the secretory pathway (Hurtley and Helenius, 1989; Hammond and Helenius, 1995).

The signal sequence of the translocated nascent chain is cleaved by a signal peptidase complex consisting of four subunits of which only two are essential (Böhni *et al.*, 1988; YaDeau *et al.*, 1991; Fang *et al.*, 1996; Mullins *et al.*, 1996; Fang *et al.*, 1997). At least two classes of chaperones assisting the folding are known. The first class consist of enzymes, *e.g.* protein disulphide isomerase (PDI), that catalyse specific isomerization steps and the second class are chaperones that bind unfolded or partially folded precursors and prevent their inappropriate interactions. Representatives of the second class include several members of the Hsp70 family which despite their common features are not interchangeable (reviewed by Gething and Sambrook, 1992).

Kar2p, in addition to its requirement for translocation, is needed for folding of secretory proteins as was demonstrated for CPY by Simons *et al.* (1995). The functions of Kar2p in translocation and as a folding chaperone seem to be clearly separable as some proteins have been shown to require only one of these functions (Holkeri *et al.*, 1998). Another lumenal Hsp70-related protein, Lhs1p, is involved both in translocation and folding of proteins (reviewed by Craven *et al.*, 1997). Unlike Kar2p, it is not essential for viability, but its depletion impairs translocation of several precursors. Furthermore, null mutation of *LHS1* is lethal in combination with certain *kar2* mutants, and can partially rescue another *kar2* mutation, which becomes more deleterious when *LHS1* is overexpressed. These genetic interactions led to the suggestion that Kar2p and Lhs1p have partly overlapping functions. Homologues of Lhs1p from other species have been found and together they are presumed to form a novel subclass of Hsp70-like proteins (reviewed by Craven *et al.*, 1997).

Mammalian calnexin and calreticulin are chaperones of different functional principle. They are lectins that bind N-glycosylated polypeptides through the sugar moieties. It is currently unclear whether binding also involves protein-protein interactions. In addition to transient binding to glycoproteins, calnexin can bind for a prolonged time to innative proteins and so retain them in the ER.

This suggests a role in quality control (reviewed by Helenius *et al.*, 1997). A nonessential homologue of calnexin, Cne1p, has been identified in yeast by sequence homology, but it is not clear whether its function is similar. The chaperone function of Cne1p seems dispensable or can possibly be substituted by another chaperone. However, disruption of *CNE1* leads to transport of two proteins to the cell surface that would normally be expected to remain in the ER, indicating a role in quality control for Cne1p (Parlati *et al.*, 1995). A yeast homologue for calreticulin has not been identified.

Both O- and N-linked glycosylation of proteins are initiated in the yeast ER and the processing continues in the Golgi. The early stages of N-glycosylation are conserved among eukaryotes reflecting the important contribution of these glycans to protein stability, conformation and targeting. The N-linked core oligosaccharide unit is attached to the amide group of an asparagine residue that is part of the tripeptide sequence asn-x-ser/thr, in which x denotes any amino acid residue but proline. The later stages differ between higher eukaryotes and fungal species. In mammalian cells several mannoses are cleaved during processing of a glycan and either new residues of different oligosaccharides are added to form complex or high-mannose type glycans, or hybrids between them (Kornfeld and Kornfeld, 1985). In yeast only a single mannose is removed and a great number of mannose units can be added to the glycan to form so-called outer chain units. The yeast O-linked glycans are added to serine or threonine residues and consist of mannose residues only (reviewed by Herscovics and Orlean, 1993; Orlean, 1997).

1.4 Protein maintenance in the ER and ERAD

1.4.1 Retrotranslocation and ERAD

ER associated protein degradation (ERAD) was previously assumed to take place in the lumen or membrane of the ER (Knittler *et al.*, 1995). In recent years, however, a great deal of evidence has been gathered to support the view that the aberrant or malfolded proteins are transported in an ATP-consuming manner to the cytosol to be degraded by proteasomes. ERAD is very selective for specific, aberrant or misfolded, proteins. The substrate selectivity has been proven by studies on monomers that fail to assemble into proper complexes such as the subunits of the T-cell receptor. A proteasome inhibitor, lactacystin, has been utilised in studies to show that proteasome is indeed responsible for ERAD. In addition, the use of a ubiquitin mutant has proved that ubiquitination is a prerequisite in most cases for degradation mediated by proteasomes (Sommer and Jentsch, 1993; reviewed by Brodsky and McCracken, 1997).

Both lumenal and membrane proteins are degraded by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. The human cytomegalovirus products US2 and US11 were shown to target major histocompatibility complex class I (MHCI) molecules selectively to degradation in the cytosol. The degradation was evidently mediated by proteasomes because addition of lactacystin revealed a complex formed between MHCI and a proteasome (Wiertz et al., 1996a; 1996b). In yeast, similar results have been obtained with the help of lactacystin and mutant forms of ubiquitinconjugating enzymes or proteasomes (Biederer et al., 1996; Hiller et al., 1996; Werner et al., 1996). In sec61-2 cells the mutant Sec61p possibly leads to enhanced dissociation of the Sec61p complex. In those cells Sec61p in addition to another wild type (wt) subunit of the Sec61p complex, Sss1p, was targeted for degradation at a restrictive temperature (Biederer *et al.*, 1996). Two ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes, Ubc6p and Ubc7p, were essential for proteasome-mediated degradation of mutant Sec61p and unfolded CPY (Biederer *et al.*, 1996, Hiller *et al.*, 1996) but not that of mutant pro- α factor (Werner et al., 1996). Both these ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes and the proteasome are on the cytosolic side of the ER. Thus, the degradation machinery is considered to be tightly coupled to retrotranslocation (Brodsky and McCracken, 1997).

The export of proteins destined for degradation from the ER has been shown to be mediated by the Sec61p complex both in mammals (Wiertz *et al.*, 1996b) and in yeast (Pilon *et al.*, 1997; Plemper *et al.*, 1997). In reducing conditions unfolded MHCI was detected bound to Sec61p complex (Wiertz *et al.*, 1996b). In yeast, the cold-sensitive *sec61* mutants and ts *sec61-2* cells have been shown to accumulate unfolded precursors in the ER even at a temperature that is permissive for growth and protein import into the ER. This indicates that in addition to having defects in translocation, the mutants are unable to export the aberrant proteins to the cytosol (Pilon *et al.*, 1997; Plemper *et al.*, 1997; Pilon *et al.*, 1998).

Sec63p and Kar2p have also been proposed to function in protein export from the ER, although their role may be indirect (Plemper *et al.*, 1997). As the translocon has been thought to have no directional bias (Ooi and Weiss, 1992), accessory factors in the ER, such as calnexin (McCracken and Brodsky, 1996), Kar2p (Plemper *et al.*, 1997), Der1p (Knop *et al.*, 1996) and Der3p/Hrd1p (Bordallo *et al.*, 1998), are likely needed for retrotranslocation of proteins destined for degradation. Similarly to the role of Kar2p in posttranslational translocation, chaperones in the cytosol are suggested to assist the retrotranslocation either by pulling or acting as a ratchet in an ATP-hydrolysing manner (Brodsky and McCracken, 1997).

1.4.2 ER retention and retrieval

Many proteins resident in the lumen of the ER contain the carboxy-terminal tetrapeptide sequence of KDEL in mammals and HDEL in yeast. The essential and sufficient role for this sequence in ER retention was revealed by experiments showing that addition of it to the carboxy-terminus of secretory or lysosomal proteins led to their ER localisation and that its deletion induced secretion of Bip (reviewed by Pelham, 1989). The proteins containing this retention signal had acquired modifications for which enzymes of the Golgi are required. Thus, the proteins must had first exited the ER and then been retrieved back. The retrieval was postulated to be mediated by a receptor and this was further confirmed by identification of Erd2p, which was shown to be necessary for retrieval of lumenal ER resident proteins in yeast (Lewis *et al.*, 1990; Semenza *et al.*, 1990).

Recent studies on animal cells, though, have questioned the role of KDEL as an essential retrieval signal. B-fragments of Shiga toxin containing either wild type or mutated KDEL signal were delivered to the ER with the same kinetics (Johannes *et al.*, 1997). Similarly, studies with vesicular stomatitis virus G protein called ts045 indicate that the Golgi to ER retrograde traffic is not entirely signal-mediated (Cole *et al.*, 1998). The results from these studies rather suggest that KDEL would be important for retention in the ER (Johannes *et al.*, 1997; Cole *et al.*, 1998). In yeast, however, the previously shown requirement of the HDEL signal and its receptor Erd2p for ER retrieval *in vivo* was recently confirmed by *in vitro* studies (Spang and Schekman, 1998).

Like the lumenal-resident proteins, proteins resident in the ER membrane contain a signal that can lead to retrieval to the ER from as far as from the trans Golgi (reviewed by Nilsson and Warren, 1994). The intermediate compartment between the ER and Golgi, which was first reported in animal cells (Saraste and Kuismanen, 1984), is considered to be the major recycling site for ER-resident proteins (Lippincott-Schwartz et al., 1990). The retrieval signal of type I membrane proteins (amino-terminus in the lumen of the ER) is a double lysine motif in KKXX or KXKXX sequences (X denotes any amino acid residue) in their carboxy-termini, which face the cytosol (Gaynor et al., 1994; Townsley and Pelham, 1994). Instead, two arginines (RR) in the amino-terminus are essential for ER retrieval of type II membrane proteins (carboxy-termini in the lumen of the ER). In addition, other less well known retrieval signals exist (reviewed by Nilsson and Warren, 1994). Interestingly, the COPI coat proteins recognise the KKXX signal and thus the retrieval is likely mediated by COPIcoated vesicles. Consistently, a functional double lysine ER retention signal, but not a mutated form, could bind to COPI coatomer in vitro (Cosson and Letourneur, 1994), and the yeast mutants with defective COPI coatomer components were shown to be unable to retain a reporter protein in the ER *in vivo* (Letourneur *et al.*, 1994).

There are probably ER retention signals in addition to retrieval signals. Thus, although proteins containing ER retention sequences can reach the intermediate compartment, an ER lumenal protein which lacks its retrieval signal is still unlikely to exit the ER. The exact retention signal is unknown, but it could be a membrane-spanning domain as has been shown for the nuclear and Golgi resident membrane proteins. Furthermore, both retention and retrieval signals may exist in one protein and function independently. Thus, the retrieval signal could act as safe-guard to ensure the correct localisation of the ER resident proteins (reviewed by Nilsson and Warren, 1994).

1.5 Exocytosis

The term exocytosis is used in a narrow meaning to describe only the regulated release of proteins from the secretory granules (Palade, 1975). In a wider use, it means also the constitutive transport of secretory proteins and the last step of the secretory pathway, from Golgi to plasma membrane and release to cell exterior. Today more than twenty genes essential for this protein transport step have been identified in yeast (Figure 1). However, the exact function of most of the proteins encoded by them is still unknown, in part because there is no *in vitro* assay for this transport step.

The transport of secretory proteins to the plasma membrane has been presumed to occur without requirement for any specific signal (Pfeffer and Rothman, 1987; Rothman, 1987). This so-called bulk flow model was experimentally evidenced by the transport of a tripeptide that is a target for N-glycosylation. Wieland et al. (1987) suggested that the tripeptide was transported to the cell surface through the secretory pathway although faster than the secretory protein, albumin. The bulk flow theory was further supported by the existence of retention signals for the ER and Golgi resident proteins (Munro and Pelham, 1987; Pelham, 1989; Nilsson and Warren, 1994 and references therein) and a specific signal, mannose 6-phosphate, in soluble proteins targeted to the lysosome of animal cells (reviewed by Farquhar, 1985). Also the regulated secretion by secretory granules (Burgess and Kelly, 1987) that release their contents only after appropriate stimulus is considered as an evidence that constitutive secretion occurs by default. Furthermore, constitutive secretion without a specific signal seems a more economical choice for the cells than tagging secretory proteins with several signal sequences that would allow them to pass different cellular compartments before they reach their final destination (Pfeffer and Rothman, 1987).

The trans-Golgi network (TGN) is considered to be the major sorting site of proteins targeted to the lysosome and those secreted either constitutively or in regulated manner (Griffiths and Simons, 1986). One experimental evidence for this was offered by showing that both insulin, whose transport is regulated, and constitutively secreted viral membrane protein, influenza hemagglutinin, follow the same route to the TGN whereafter their fate is different (Orci *et al.*, 1987). Also in yeast the TGN is the major sorting station between the prevacuolar or vacuolar- and plasma membrane-targeted protein traffic (Rothman and Stevens, 1986). Constitutive protein secretion to the plasma membrane is mediated by coated vesicles (Payne and Schekman, 1985; Orci *et al.*, 1986). The coat is different from clathrin as the yeast cells with deletion of the gene encoding the clathrin heavy chain manifested only a minor defect in the transport and secretion of invertase (Payne and Schekman, 1985).

The bulk flow theory has more recently been challenged. Römisch and Schekman (1992) showed that the tripeptide, whose transport was used as the initial evidence for the signal-independent transport through the secretory pathway, is not transported in vesicles to the Golgi and is consistently unable to acquire Golgi-dependent modifications. Exit from the ER is considered to imply selective sorting and concentration of the cargo and to require a di-acidic sorting signal (reviewed by Bannykh et al., 1998). Also, at least two different post-Golgi vesicle populations, whose cargo contents are different, have been suggested to exist (Bretscher et al., 1994; Govindan et al., 1995) and have now been isolated (Harsay and Bretscher, 1995; Mulholland et al., 1997; David et al., 1998). Furthermore, studies of the nitrogen source-influenced and Sec13pdependent post-Golgi transport of amino acid permeases, Gap1p and Put4p (Roberg *et al.*, 1997a; 1997b), and of the dispensability of the late-acting vesicle SNAP receptors (v-SNAREs), the Snc proteins (David et al., 1998), have suggested that also post-Golgi traffic can occur in a regulated manner in yeast. The regulated secretion of the amino acid permeases to the plasma membrane is suggested to occur in a third vesicle population, whose coat component may be Sec13p (Roberg et al., 1997a; 1997b).

1.5.1 The SNARE hypothesis and membrane fusion

In order to maintain compartmentalisation in cells it is important that a vesicle budding from a donor membrane fuses only with the appropriate target membrane. According to the SNARE hypothesis this fidelity of targeting and fusion is acquired by specific recognition between a membrane protein on a vesicle (v) and its receptor on the appropriate target (t) membrane (Bennett and Scheller, 1993; Söllner *et al.*, 1993). The proteins that fulfil these functions were first isolated from neuronal cells as a 20S complex containing the vesicleassociated membrane protein VAMP/Synaptobrevin, the target membrane receptor syntaxin and the synaptosome-associated protein of 25kDa (SNAP25). In addition, the N-ethylmaleimide sensitive fusion protein (NSF) and the soluble NSF attachment proteins (SNAPs) are needed as general factors for the targeting and fusion events. Synaptobrevin/VAMP, syntaxin and SNAP25 bind α SNAP, thus the term SNARE for SNAP receptor. The *in vivo* evidence for the functioning of this complex in the neuronal exocytosis originates from experiments showing specific proteolysis of the SNAREs by botulinum and tetanus toxins, and their ability to bind the general factors NSF, α and γ SNAP needed for the fusion (Bennett and Scheller, 1993; Söllner *et al.*, 1993; Ferro-Novick and Jahn, 1994).

The vesicle fusion machinery is conserved in all eukaryotes and used both in constitutive and regulated secretion (Figure 3) (Ferro-Novick and Jahn, 1994). The yeast equivalents of NSF, Sec18p (Wilson *et al.*, 1989), and α SNAP, Sec17p (Clary *et al.*, 1990; Griff *et al.*, 1992), are needed for multiple steps along the exocytic pathway (Kaiser and Schekman, 1990; Graham and Emr, 1991). The v-SNAREs in the exocytic step of yeast are the Snc proteins (Gerst *et al.*, 1992; Protopopov *et al.*, 1993) and the t-SNAREs are the Sso proteins (Aalto *et al.*, 1993) and Sec9p localised on the plasma membrane (Brennwald *et al.*, 1994). Today, many other SNAREs functioning at various secretory steps are known both in yeast and mammals. According to the simplest model, the fidelity of the targeting and fusion is obtained by pairing of the v- and t-SNAREs specific to these different secretory steps (Bennett and Scheller, 1993).

Because the SNAREs function both in constitutive and regulated secretion *e.g.* in neuronal cells in which the membrane fusion is triggered by a calcium stimulus (reviewed by Bennett and Scheller, 1993), additional specificity determinants are likely needed (Galli *et al.*, 1995). According to a more recent view the SNAREs are the minimal requirement for the membrane fusion to occur (Weber *et al.*, 1998) but do not probably regulate the specificity of the reaction. This view is supported by several findings (reviewed by Götte and Fisher von Mollard, 1998). The yeast plasma membrane t-SNAREs localise on the entire plasma membrane even in small-budded cells in which the bud area is the active site of exocytosis (Brennwald *et al.*, 1994). Similarly, neuronal syntaxin 1 is not restricted to the membrane of the presynaptic active zone but is found along the axonal plasma membrane (Garcia *et al.*, 1995). Furthermore, a v-SNARE can pair with more than one t-SNARE *in vitro* (Fisher von Mollard *et al.*, 1997; Holthuis *et al.*, 1998). Thus, despite intensive studies on SNAREs, their exact function is still unsolved (Schekman, 1998).



Figure 3. The membrane fusion machineries are conserved in evolution from yeast to mammals. Modified from Ferro-Novick and Jahn (1994).

The pairing specificity may be mediated by regulatory proteins such as members of the Sec1p family and the small GTP-binding proteins (Lupashin and Waters, 1997; Rothman and Söllner, 1997). Sec4p, that functions in vesicle transport from the Golgi to the plasma membrane in yeast, was the first GTP-binding protein shown to be involved in secretory transport (reviewed by Ferro-Novick and Novick, 1993). The essential Sec4p is homologous to the mammalian Rab proteins and the yeast Ras and Ypt proteins, and is a member of the Ypt/Rab subfamily of the RAS superfamily (reviewed by Olkkonen and Stenmark, 1997). The role of Sec4p in secretion was directly evidenced with a ts *sec4-8* mutation which was shown to arrest the post-Golgi vesicle traffic (Salminen and Novick, 1987). Sec4p is presumed to cycle between forms bound to the surface of a secretory vesicle or the plasma membrane and a cytosolic, free form (Goud *et al.*, 1988; Walworth *et al.*, 1989). This cycle is linked to another cycle, the sequential binding and hydrolysis of GTP and exchange of nucleotides, that involves additional factors (reviewed by Ferro-Novick and Novick, 1993; Novick and Brennwald, 1993).

The GTP-bound Sec4p is assumed to activate a downstream effector. The clue to the possible candidate for such an effector came from genetic studies. Salminen and Novick (1987) had shown that an extra copy of *SEC4* could suppress the ts phenotype of *sec2-4*, *sec8-9* and *sec15-1*, and that *sec4-8* in combination with *sec2-41*, *sec3-2*, *sec5-24*, *sec8-9*, *sec10-2*, *sec15-1* or *sec19-1* caused synthetic lethality. Furthermore, overexpression of *SEC9*, which was cloned as a multicopy suppressor of the *sec4* effector domain mutation, could partially suppress the temperature sensitivity of *sec1-1*, *sec3-2*, *sec8-9* and *sec15-1* (Brennwald *et al.*, 1994). These genetic interactions (see Table 5) suggested that the exocyst complex (1.5.5) could be a mediator of the regulatory effect of Sec4p on the Sec9-Sso-Snc protein complex (Bowser *et al.*, 1992; Ferro-Novick and Novick, 1993; Brennwald *et al.*, 1994). A recent study by Guo *et al.* (1999) has experimentally established this role for the exocyst complex.

A question has lately risen concerning whether the t- and v-SNAREs are both universally required for the vesicle docking and fusion. David *et al.* (1998) have shown that under certain conditions the exocytic v-SNAREs, the Snc proteins, are dispensable. However, under these conditions, the t-SNAREs were still required. The *snc* mutant cells are conditionally lethal and their secretory capacity is defective (Protopopov *et al.*, 1993). The viability and secretion in these cells could be restored by providing the cells with mutations in genes *VBM1* or *VBM2* which encode proteins involved in synthesis of long chain fatty acids and sphingolipids in the ER (Oh *et al.*, 1997; David *et al.*, 1998). The absolute requirement for v-SNAREs is further questioned by results showing that both vacuolar (Nichols *et al.*, 1997) and ER membrane fusion (Patel *et al.*, 1998) can occur in the absence of the appropriate v-SNAREs. *sec1-1*, that accumulates post-Golgi vesicles of 80 - 100 nm in diameter at the restrictive temperature, was the first secretory mutant identified in yeast (Novick and Schekman, 1979; Novick *et al.*, 1980). The essential wild type gene encoding Sec1p was cloned from a chromosomal library by complementation of *sec1-1* at 37°. The size of the Sec1p protein predicted from the amino acid sequence is 83 kDa and the protein does not contain any clearly hydrophobic sequences. Thus it is considered to be a soluble cytosolic protein needed for the post-Golgi traffic (Aalto *et al.*, 1991). However, in subcellular fractionation studies it was reported to behave rather as though it was strongly coupled to a sedimentable subcellular fraction (Egerton *et al.*, 1993). *SEC1* displays genetic interactions with other late-acting *SEC* genes. Its overexpression has been shown to suppress *sec3-2, sec15-1* and *sec10-2*, which all encode components of the exocyst (1.5.5) (Aalto *et al.*, 1993). *SEC1* homologues are known in nematode, *Drosophila* and several mammalian species (1.5.4).

1.5.3 SSO genes and MSO1

Suppressors of *sec* one, *SSO1* and *SSO2*, were isolated from a cDNA library on a multicopy plasmid (Aalto *et al.*, 1993). Overexpression of either *SSO* gene suppresses the ts growth and secretory defect of *sec1-1*. However, Sso proteins cannot rescue the depletion of Sec1p. Thus they seem to have an independent function rather than to replace that of Sec1p when overproduced. The Sso1 and Sso2 proteins consist of 290 and 295 amino acids, respectively, and are 72% identical at the amino acid level. They contain a single transmembrane region close to their carboxy-termini followed by a short tail of three or four amino acids (Aalto *et al.*, 1993). Thus, they represent type II membrane proteins and localise to the plasma membrane with their amino-termini facing the cytosol (Kutay *et al.*, 1993; Brennwald *et al.*, 1994).

Disruption of either SSO gene does not cause a detectable phenotype, but simultaneous deletion of both SSO genes is lethal. Thus, the proteins perform together an essential function. Overexpression of SSO genes can suppress also other late-acting *sec* mutations *sec3-2*, *sec5-24*, *sec9-4* and *sec15-1*. The suppression pattern of the two SSO genes is similar. This further confirms that the Sso proteins together are responsible for a function in the late secretory transport, which according to the genetic studies appears to be a central one.

MSO1, another **m**ulticopy suppressor of *sec* one, was cloned more recently (Aalto *et al.*, 1997). Disruption of the *MSO1* gene does not affect viability under any growth conditions tested. Instead, it leads to the accumulation of secretory

vesicles of 60 nm in diameter in the bud area. Unlike the SSO genes, MSO1 is a specific suppressor of sec1 and cannot suppress the ts phenotype of any other late-acting sec mutants. However, disruption of MSO1 shows synthetic lethality with sec2-41 and sec4-8 similarly as with sec1-1 and sec1-11. Furthermore, it reduces the viability of sec3-2, sec5-24, sec6-4, sec8-9, sec9-4, sec10-2 and sec15-1 mutants but has no effect on that of the sec7-1, sec18-1 or sec19-1 mutant cells. The size of the Mso1p estimated from the sequence is 23 kDa and the sequence of this hydrophilic protein is not obviously similar to that of any known proteins. Mso1p has been shown to bind Sec1p, which in addition to the other results suggests a role for it in the last step of the secretory pathway. The exact function it carries out in late secretory transport, however, is still unsolved (Aalto et al., 1997).

1.5.4 Conserved protein families in vesicular transport

Yeast has several Sec1p related proteins that together form a protein family. It consists of Sly1p, Slp1p/Vps33p, Sec1p (Aalto *et al.*, 1992) and a more recently identified member Vps45p (Cowles *et al.*, 1994; Piper *et al.*, 1994). Sly1p functions in the transport step between ER and Golgi (Dascher *et al.*, 1991; Ossig *et al.*, 1991), and Slp1p/Vps33p and Vps45p are needed for vacuolar delivery (Banta *et al.*, 1990; Wada *et al.*, 1990; Cowles *et al.*, 1994). Mutation in genes encoding these proteins leads to vesicle accumulation at the transport step in question analogously to that observed for *sec1* mutants. Thus, the members of the yeast Sec1p family appear to have similar tasks in protein secretion at different transport steps. Furthermore, they seem to be factors providing the specificity for these sorting events. Since Sec1p and Sly1p are more homologous with each other than with Slp1p, they are assumed to have diverged from each other later in evolution than their common ancestor diverged from Slp1p (Aalto *et al.*, 1992).

Other members of the Sec1p family have been identified from higher eukaryotes: *unc-18* gene was identified in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* (Hosono *et al.*, 1992), *Rop* in *Drosophila melanogaster* (Salzberg *et al.*, 1993) and mammalian homologues specific for neuronal (Hata *et al.*, 1993; Garcia *et al.*, 1994; Pevsner *et al.*, 1994) or other type of tissue (Hodel *et al.*, 1994; Katagiri *et al.*, 1995; Tellam *et al.*, 1995; Hata and Südhof, 1995; Riento *et al.*, 1996). Both positive and negative roles have been suggested for Sec1p (reviewed by Halachmi and Lev, 1996), but its exact function is unknown.

The t-SNARE family of syntaxins includes also members both from yeast and other eukaryotes. Aalto *et al.* (1993) found significant sequence similarities between Sso proteins and six other eukaryotic proteins. Two of them were found
from yeast: Sed5p that is needed for ER to Golgi transport (Hardwick and Pelham, 1992) and Pep12p functioning in vacuolar targeting (Becherer *et al.*, 1994). The other members are mammalian syntaxin A/HPC-1 and syntaxin B (Bennett *et al.*, 1992; Inoue *et al.*, 1992), which are assumed to function in synaptic vesicle docking and/or fusion to the plasma membrane, and epimorphin that has been suggested to function in epithelial morphogenesis (Hirai et al., 1992). The role of epimorphin in secretory transport, however, has been under debate (Pelham, 1993; Hirai et al., 1993). Lastly, a nematode cDNA (Ainscough *et al.*, 1991) was found to be homologous to syntaxins. The family was enlarged by Bennett *et al.* (1993) who reported isolation of four new members, syntaxins 2-5. Today, eight syntaxin-like t-SNARE proteins have been identified in yeast. In addition to the previously described, an ER-specific Ufe1p (Lewis and Pelham, 1996), vacuolar Vam3p (Wada *et al.*, 1997) and two t-SNAREs which have effect on late Golgi and seem to function in endocytosis, Tlg1p and Tlg2p (Holthuis *et al.*, 1998; Séron *et al.*, 1998), have been reported.

Small GTP-binding proteins that function at various transport steps also form a family. The yeast family contains 11 members of which Sec4p and Ypt1p were the first ones identified (Aalto *et al.*, 1992; Bennett and Scheller, 1993; Novick and Zerial, 1997). Ypt1p is needed for ER to Golgi transport (Segev *et al.*, 1988), Sec4p for post-Golgi transport (Salminen and Novick, 1987), Ypt31p and Ypt32p for intra-Golgi transport and most of the other members for vacuolar targeting (Wichmann *et al.*, 1992; Horazdovsky *et al.*, 1994; Novick and Zerial, 1997; Sato and Wickner, 1998). The fact that proteins with homologous sequences and similar functions are found in different organisms and at distinct steps of the transport route in the same organism (Table 1) suggests that the function they carry out is of fundamental nature. The evolutionary conservation also enables the use of simpler organisms for studies of corresponding events in the higher organisms (Bennett and Scheller, 1993).

Transport step	Sec1p family	Small GTP- proteins	v-SNAREs	t-SNAREs
ER-Golgi	Sly1p	Ypt1p	Bos1p, Bet1p Sly2p/Sec22p	Sed5p, Ufe1p
Golgi-plasma membrane	Sec1p	Sec4p	Snc1p, Snc2p	Sso1p, Sso2p
Golgi-endosome	Vps45p	Vps21p/Ypt51p	Vti1p	Pep12p, Tlg1p?, Tlg2p?
endosome-vacuole	Slp1p/Vps33p	Ypt7p	Nyv1p	Vam3p/Pth1p

Table 1. Conserved protein families functioning at different steps of vesicular transport in yeast.

1.5.5 The exocyst complex

Two late-acting Sec proteins, Sec8p (Bowser *et al.*, 1992) and Sec15p (Salminen and Novick, 1989), have been shown to reside on a large complex, that is found both free in the cytosol and peripherally associated with the plasma membrane (Bowser and Novick, 1991; Bowser *et al.*, 1992). Part of the sequence of Sec8p is homologous to that of the adenylate cyclase domain required for response to Ras. Thus, Sec8p was presumed to respond to Sec4p, the post-Golgi GTP-binding protein of the Ras superfamily. Based on this and the genetic evidence (Salminen and Novick, 1987; Bowser *et al.*, 1992), it was suggested that the Sec8p/Sec15p particle could form the downstream effector of Sec4p. Furthermore, a fraction of Sec4p co-eluted with the Sec8p/Sec15p complex in gel filtration. This was not observed in cells containing either *sec8-9* or *sec15-1* mutations that cause instability of the complex. These results implied that Sec4p could directly associate with the complex (Bowser *et al.*, 1992).

TerBush and Novick (1995) further studied the complex which they localised to the tip of the bud and suggested to be involved in targeting of secretory vesicles to the plasma membrane of the bud. Using 6-histidine-tagged Sec8p combined with immunoprecipitations and affinity chromatography they could show that it contains at least eight polypeptides of molecular masses between 70 and 144 kDa. Sec6p was found to be the third component of the complex, which cofractionated with the tagged form of Sec8p and Sec15p. On the contrary, Sec1p, Sec2p and Sec4p, whose genes interact with *SEC8* and *SEC15*, did not cofractionate with the tagged form of Sec8p. Thus, they are not stable subunits of the complex.

Synthetic phenotypes had previously been detected in combinations of *sec8-9* with most of the late-acting *sec* mutants and *sec19-1* (Bowser *et al.*, 1992; Potenza *et al.*, 1992). The stability of the Sec6/Sec8/Sec15 complex was altered in these mutant cells, although at a permissive temperature of 25°C *sec1-1*, *sec2-41*, *sec4-8*, *sec6-4*, *sec8-9* and *sec15-1* had only minor effect on the subunit composition of the complex. *sec6-4* and *sec15-1* mutations, instead, caused almost total instability of the complex at a restrictive temperature, and in strains containing *sec3-2*, *sec5-24* or *sec10-2* mutations the complex was unstable even at the permissive temperature (TerBush and Novick, 1995).

Another purification of the complex with the aid of triple c-myc-tagged Sec8p yielded enough protein for microsequencing of the subunits of the complex. This in addition to comparing the relative molecular masses of the proteins led to the identification of four new components (TerBush *et al.*, 1996). Three of them were encoded by *SEC3*, *SEC5* and *SEC10*. An essential gene *EXO70*, for

exocyst component of **70** kDa, encodes the fourth component identified. Moreover, the seven known hydrophilic protein components of the complex are present in single copies. As the complex is only required for the exocytosis it was named the exocyst (Figure 4). A mammalian complex with homologous subunits has been isolated from rat brain (Ting *et al.*, 1995; Hsu *et al.*, 1996; Guo *et al.*, 1997; Hazuka *et al.*, 1997; Kee *et al.*, 1997). The complex contains eight subunits and seems to be involved in synaptic vesicle docking and fusion (Hsu *et al.*, 1996).

Sem1p, a novel small hydrophilic protein was recently identified in yeast (Jäntti *et al.*, 1999). The gene encoding it is highly conserved in evolution and has been shown to interact with several genes encoding the components of the exocyst. Overexpression of the nonessential *SEM1* can suppress the temperature sensitivity of *sec3-2*, *sec8-9*, *sec10-2* and *sec15-1*. Interestingly, deletion of *SEM1* from these same mutant strains eliminated their temperature sensitivity. Thus, a regulatory role for Sem1p on exocyst function has been proposed. Furthermore, Sem1p is indicated to regulate also the pseudohyphal growth in yeast. Deletion of both copies of *SEM1* from a diploid strain induced pseudohyphal growth which the strain normally does not display.

1.5.6 Polarised secretion

Surface growth and protein secretion by yeast cells is restricted to the bud area during most of the cell cycle. When the bud enlarges exocytic secretion is directed towards the tip of the bud, and after the bud has reached about two-thirds of the size of the mother cell secretion is directed to the entire bud area. This is followed by directing the vesicles carrying new cell wall material to the neck area between the mother and daughter cells, which leads to cytokinesis and septation (Byers, 1981). The correct distribution of vesicles to the sites of exocytosis is presumed to rely on both actin-dependent vesicle transport and creation of vesicle-docking sites independently of actin (reviewed by Finger and Novick, 1998).

The actin cytoskeleton participates both in the creation of polarised secretion in yeast and its maintenance (Ayscough *et al.*, 1997). Unlike mammalian cells, yeast does not use microtubules to transport vesicles. In this respect, it reminds more of a plant cell (Novick, 1985). Actin mutants have been shown to accumulate post-Golgi vesicles and partially arrest secretion of invertase (Novick and Botstein, 1985). Furthermore, the cells become enlarged and lack polarised secretion. The vesicle accumulation phenotype suggests that actin is not only involved in polarised secretion but can also facilitate exocytosis. Mutant form of profilin, a protein that regulates actin assembly, also causes

depolarisation of secretion but not accumulation of secretory vesicles (Finger and Novick, 1998). However, the gene encoding it shows genetic interactions with several late acting *sec* mutations, *e.g.* with *sec3* (Haarer *et al.*, 1996; Finger and Novick, 1997).

Myosin, tropomyosin and Aip3p/Bud6p among several other factors are involved in cytoskeleton-dependent polarised secretion (reviewed by Drubin and Nelson 1996; Amberg et al., 1997; Finger and Novick, 1998). Mutations in genes encoding myosin and tropomyosin, an actin filament-binding protein, have been shown to display genetic interactions with late-acting SEC genes and with each other (Liu and Bretscher, 1992; Govindan et al., 1995). At a restrictive temperature (37°C) cells containing either myo2-66 mutation or $tpm1\Delta$ disruption accumulated vesicles similar to those in the late-acting sec mutants. Interestingly, export of most of their cargo proteins did not seem affected. In comparison to the wild type cells, only secretion of a-agglutinin, an α -factor-inducible cell surface glycoprotein in MATa cells, was slower and partly delocalised in myo2-66 or $tpm1\Delta$ mutant cells at 37°C (Liu and Bretscher, 1992). Thus, the secretion continues although in a not accurately polarised way. Myo2p, a class V myosin, has been localised to the active sites of exocytosis. These results support the hypothesis according to which Myo2p could be the motor bringing the secretory vesicles to the bud tip along the actin cables (reviewed by Finger and Novick, 1998).

Activated Sec4p is suggested to regulate polarised exocytosis. It can be transported to the active sites of exocytosis via attachment to the surface of the secretory vesicles. However, *act1-3* and *myo2-66* mutants fail to distribute Sec4p correctly. Similarly, mutants of *SEC2*, that encodes the guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) of Sec4p, but not the other late-acting *sec* mutants mislocalise Sec4p (Walch-Solimena *et al.*, 1997). In *sec2-78* mutant Sec4p was found coupled to the post-Golgi vesicles which accumulated in both mother cell and the bud. This further strengthens the regulatory role for Sec2p-activated Sec4p in exocytosis.

Several lines of evidence suggest that the exocyst functions in determination of the vesicle docking site. The role was supported by identification of rsec6/8 complex from rat brain (Hsu *et al.*, 1996). The rsec6/8 complex, which consists of eight polypeptides, is localised to plasma membrane of the neuronal cells, and rSec8p specific antibodies were shown to coimmunoprecipitate syntaxin suggesting either direct or indirect interaction between the complex and syntaxin. The mammalian Sec6/8 complex is also suggested to determine the specificity of vesicle transport to the basolateral membrane in Madin-Darby

canine kidney (MDCK) cells and thus to be essential for generation of the epithelial cell surface polarity (Grindstaff *et al.*, 1998).

The exocyst complex in yeast is suggested to act as a targeting patch (Drubin and Nelson, 1996). First indications for this were the Sec8p localisation and the patch forming phenotype of the *SEC15* overexpression strain (reviewed in Finger and Novick, 1998). Mutations in Sec3p, unlike in the other components of the complex, lead to depolarisation of the cell (Finger and Novick, 1997). Moreover, homozygous *sec3* diploid cells display random budding patterns, and their chitin location is depolarised in addition to defective secretion and cytokinesis (Haarer *et al.*, 1996; Finger and Novick, 1997). Thus, Sec3p was considered as a candidate for a spatial determinant of exocytosis.

Finger *et al.* (1998) fused green fluorescent protein (GFP) to the carboxy terminus of Sec3p and showed the functional fusion protein to localise to the sites of exocytosis at each stage of the cell cycle. The fusion protein was also presumed to associate stably with the plasma membrane. In addition to Sec5p (Mondésert *et al.*, 1997), Sec4p and Sec8p were shown to colocalise with Sec3p but their transport to the site, unlike that of Sec3p, depended on the secretory pathway. Interestingly, in all ER to Golgi, intra-Golgi or post-Golgi *sec* mutants examined Sec3-GFP was correctly localised. Similarly, its transport did not require a polarised actin cytoskeleton. These results further supported the idea that Sec3p could be a regulator of the exocytic fusion site.

A model for the establishment of polarised secretion in yeast has been proposed (Finger and Novick, 1998). According to it Sec3p that defines the site of exocytosis is transported there independently of the actin cytoskeleton and secretory machinery but likely under guidance of the cell cycle machinery. The post-Golgi secretory vesicles bind Sec4p, that becomes activated in a reaction catalysed by Sec2p, and vesicles are transported to the site of exocytosis on actin cables, possibly with the aid of Myo2p. Sec15p would bind Sec4p and dock the vesicles in response to the activated Sec4p at the appropriate exocytic site that is marked by Sec3p. This could lead to recruitment of the other components of the exocyst to the site and assembly of the complex. Finally v- and t-SNAREs would interact leading to the fusion of the vesicles to plasma membrane.

Sec15p was recently shown to cofractionate with Sec4p and Snc2p, a post-Golgi v-SNARE, in cellular fractionation (Guo *et al.*, 1999). Its localisation to the vesicles was supported by immunoelectron microscopy and physical interaction with GTP-bound Sec4p. These results, thus, experimentally establish the role for Sec15p as an effector of Sec4p. The coimmuprecipitations and results from

the yeast two-hybrid assay with pairwise combinations of the exocyst components has led to a model of molecular interactions that could link the secretory vesicles to the site of exocytosis (Figure 4). The protein-protein interactions suggest that Sec5p is the core component of the complex. It interacts with Sec3p, Sec6p, Sec10p and Exo70p. Furthermore, the association of Sec15p with the complex depends on the presence of Sec10p. Interestingly these two proteins, Sec10p and Sec15p, were also found to form an independent subcomplex *in vivo* (Guo *et al.*, 1999).



plasma membrane

Figure 4. The exocyst complex regulates the polarised vesicle transport in yeast. According to Guo et al. (1999) the molecular interactions between Sec15p and GTP-bound Sec4p on the surface of the vesicle and those between the subunits of the complex link the secretory vesicle to the plasma membrane at the site that is marked by Sec3p. Modified from Guo et al., 1999.

1.6 The production of heterologous proteins in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae

1.6.1 Saccharomyces cerevisiae as a production host

The yeast S. cerevisiae has several advantages as a production organism. Its whole genome is known, which in combination with the well developed genetic and other methods enables engineering of desired modifications to the yeast genome in order to gain a more powerful host for production of heterologous proteins. Moreover, cultivation and fermentation of yeast is easy and inexpensive. Unlike animal or many bacterial cells, yeast does not possess a possible risk of containing pyrogens, viral or oncogenic DNA. This nonpathogenic organism has acquired a GRAS (generally regarded as safe) status and can be utilised e.g. for production of enzymes that will be used in the food industry. As a eukaryote yeast is capable of most if not all posttranslational modifications that normally take place in animal cells: disulphide bond formation, proteolytic processing of precursor proteins, glycosylation, fatty acid acylation, phosphorylation, myristylation, isoprenylation and removal of aminoterminal methionine. Yeast's capacity to secrete proteins to the medium makes the further purification easy because only up to 0.5% of yeast's own proteins are secreted. In practise, only trace amounts of proteases, if any, are secreted to the medium. The secreted proteins, thus, can be maintained rather stably (reviewed by Romanos et al., 1992).

1.6.2 Factors affecting the production and secretion of heterologous proteins

Many factors need to be considered when designing protein production in yeast. Production yields of heterologous proteins are influenced by the choice of promoter for expression. There are several constitutive and inducible promoters available in yeast. In case the heterologous protein is toxic for the host, an inducible promoter that will be turned on once the cell density in the culture is high can prove useful. A foreign signal sequence can lead to successful secretion from yeast (Ruohonen *et al.*, 1987), but usually yeast's own signal sequences are used to provide the targeting to the secretory pathway. Most often the sequence encoding the heterologous protein is fused to the prepro region of the yeast mating factor α (Romanos *et al.*, 1992), but *e.g.* the signal sequence of invertase and the prepro region of Hsp150 (Simonen *et al.*, 1994) have also been used. The codon usage may also affect production output which has been evidenced by comparing the product yield and quality to the degree of optimal codon usage (reviewed by Romanos *et al.*, 1992).

Glycosylation in yeast differs from that in animal cells and can lead to extensive glycosylation of foreign glycoproteins and create immunogenic problems (reviewed by Romanos *et al.*, 1992). The hyperglycosylation problem can, however, be circumvented by mutagenising the potential glycosylation sites in the sequence or using a glycosylation mutant yeast if the outer chain glycosylation is not required for the functionality of the protein product. Another drawback of *S. cerevisiae* is its rather moderate secretory capacity. However, small peptides *e.g.* epidermal growth factor and insulin are secreted well. The yield may be as high as hundreds of milligrams per litre in high-density cultures.

1.6.3 Attempts to enhance the secretion of heterologous proteins

First optimisation of production and secretion can be done at the level of choosing and adjusting appropriate promoter and signal sequence for expression and targeting of the secretory product (Baldari et al., 1987; Martegani et al., 1992; Ruohonen et al., 1995). Modulation of the expression plasmid copy number and tuning of the growth conditions (Ruohonen et al., 1991) can also improve the product yield. One commonly used strategy to enhance secretion of heterologous proteins has been mutagenesis and screening for supersecretory phenotype (Smith et al., 1985; Sakai et al., 1988; Kaisho et al., 1989; Shuster et al., 1989; Suzuki et al., 1989; Kotylak and El-Gewely, 1991; Sleep et al., 1991; Wingfield and Dickinson, 1993). In some cases overexpression of a gene has improved protein production and secretion (Chow et al., 1992; Chen et al., 1994; Robinson et al., 1994). For example, integration of an extra copy of the gene encoding PDI (protein disulphide isomerase) into the genome was reported to enhance secretion of human platelet derived growth factor B, which contains eight disulphides, up to ten fold (Robinson et al., 1994). Deletion of a gene can also elevate secretion. Disruption of CNE1, which encodes a putative yeast homologue of mammalian calnexin, did not affect secretion of yeast's own secretory proteins, α -pheromone or acid phosphatase, but enhanced that of α_1 antitrypsin, a heterologously expressed soluble glycoprotein, up to 2 - 2.6 fold (Parlati et al., 1995). Null mutation of PMR1 gene encoding a Ca^{2+} pump (Rudolph et al., 1996) was also reported to enhance secretion of bovine proteins from yeast (Smith et al., 1985; Rudolph et al., 1996).

1.7 Aims of the study

The main goal of the study was to gain more information on the molecular mechanism of the yeast secretory pathway. This was to include cloning of new genes involved in protein secretion and studying the functions and interactions of the secretory components by genetic and biochemical methods.

The other purpose was to attain knowledge on the mechanism of the enhancement of protein production in secreted form. Previously an observation had been made in this laboratory that overproduction of the Sso proteins leads to enhanced production of a marker protein in secreted form. This phenomenon was to be studied in more detail. In addition, other secretory genes were to be screened for their possible enhancing effect on protein secretion.

2. Materials and methods

Method	Described and used in
Animal cell culture	Ι
DNA methods and southern blotting	III, IV
Expression of Sso2p in animal cells	Ι
Genetic methods	III, IV
Immunoelectron microscopy of animal cells	Ι
Immunoelectron microscopy of yeast cells	III
Immunofluorescence microscopy of animal cells	Ι
Immunofluorescence microscopy of yeast cells	III
In vitro translation and microsome association	I, III
Measurement of α -amylase activity	II, IV
Measurement of invertase activity	II, IV
Measurement of endoglucanase I activity	II
Plasmid constructions	I - IV
Preparation of anti-Seb1p peptide antibodies	III
Preparation of anti-Sso2p antibodies	Ι
Preparation of periplasmic and cytosol fractions of	II
yeast	
Preparation of recombinant Semliki forest virus stocks	Ι
Preparation of yeast cell lysates	II - IV
Protein gel electrophoresis	I - IV
Pulse-labelling and immunoprecipitation in animal	Ι
cells	
Pulse-labelling and immunoprecipitation in yeast cells	II, IV
RNA extraction and northern blotting	II, III
Yeast cell fractionation	III
Yeast culture media and growth conditions	II - IV
Yeast transformation	II - IV
Western blotting	I - IV

Table 2. Methods used in this study. The detailed descriptions of the methods are presented in the original publications and the manuscript.

The *sec* mutant strains used in these studies were obtained from Peter Novick and Randy Schekman. The wild type yeasts to which the growth and secretion properties of the *sec* mutants were compared were of the same background as the corresponding mutants. Secretion enhancement was studied in the wild type strain DBY746 of David Botstein. The SKY strains are diploids that were constructed by crossing the haploid *sec* mutants with wild type yeast or disruptant derivatives of it. For integration of an α -amylase expression cassette at the *HIS3* locus of DBY746, the 3.35 kilo base fragment containing the *Bacillus* α -amylase gene between the shortened, 700 base pairs (bp) long *ADH1* promoter and the *ADH1* terminator, was released from YEp α a6 (Ruohonen *et al.*, 1995) as a *BamHI-Sal*I fragment and cloned into pRS403 (Sikorski and Hieter, 1989) between *BamH*I and *Sal*I yielding YIp α aH. For integration YIp α aH was linearized with *PstI* in the *HIS3* sequence. The integrant strain thus obtained, H1374, was used in secretion enhancement studies (unpublished).

3. Results and discussion

3.1 Transport of Sso2p to the plasma membrane along the secretory pathway

3.1.1 The site of membrane insertion of Sso2p in the secretory pathway

The Sso proteins are type II membrane proteins (amino-termini on the cytosolic side) residing in the plasma membrane (Aalto et al., 1993; Brennwald et al., 1994). They lack the amino-terminal signal sequence that would interact with SRP in cotranslational ER translocation. Instead, they have a carboxy-terminal hydrophobic region which has been shown to mediate the membrane insertion of such tail-anchored type II membrane proteins (Kutay et al., 1993 and refs. therein). Several cellular compartments contain tail-anchored proteins and they probably insert into the membrane by a mechanism independent of the SRPmediated targeting. Thus they might be inserted directly to their target membrane. It was, therefore, interesting to study the primary membrane insertion site of these proteins. SNARE proteins, in particular, were of interest in this respect because their regulatory role on membrane traffic might create problem on possible transport to their target site. The membrane insertion site and mode of Sso2p was investigated in baby hamster kidney (BHK) cells because animal cells are superior for morphological studies in comparison to yeast. The recombinant Semliki Forest virus (SFV) vector was used for transient expression of the protein because it provides a means to synchronise the expression of proteins in a time scale of few hours.

Localisation of Sso2p in BHK cells was studied by immunofluorescence microscopy using affinity-purified polyclonal antibodies against Sso2p. The antibodies raised in rabbits were specific for Sso2p, which was evidenced by immunoblotting of cell lysates both from yeast and from BHK cells expressing Sso2p (I). The antibodies did not detect any band in the untransfected BHK cells that served as a negative control. However, they recognised Sso1p well (unpublished results). The antiserum recognised a single band of estimated size of 38 kDa (I). This is in reasonable agreement with the size of Sso proteins estimated from the sequence, 32.5 kDa. The antibodies are very potent and can be used in high dilution.

After three hours post-infection (p.i.) a perinuclear Golgi staining was detected with the antibodies. The staining colocalised with that of mannosidase II, a marker protein for the Golgi stack. Subsequently, a strong staining of plasma membrane was observed in addition to that in the Golgi. Immunoelectron microscopy was used for more detailed study of the intracellular localisation of Sso2p. With this technique the Sso2p was localised to the entire Golgi stack and plasma membrane at five hours p.i. The Golgi staining observed was due to transit of Sso2p through it on the way to the plasma membrane. A thermal block of 20°C, which inhibits transport from the trans-Golgi network (Matlin and Simons, 1983; Saraste and Kuismanen, 1984; Kuismanen and Saraste, 1989), was utilised to evidence the post-Golgi transport of Sso2p. After Sso2p was arrested to the Golgi by this treatment, its onward passage to the plasma membrane was studied by subsequent incubation of the cells at 37°C in the presence of cycloheximide. Immunofluorescence microscopy of cells fixed after 15 - 30 min incubation showed staining of vesicle-like structures, scattered throughout the cytosol, and the plasma membrane itself. After longer incubation times the Golgi staining disappeared and Sso2p was seen accumulated at the plasma membrane (I). The localisation observed for Sso2p in BHK cells was in agreement with the results of Brennwald et al. (1994) who have localised the Sso2p on the yeast plasma membrane by immunofluorescence microscopy.

It was demonstrated so far that Sso2p was transported from the Golgi to plasma membrane via the normal transport route. However, it still remained open whether Sso2p was inserted to the membrane at the ER or at the Golgi. This question was approached by treating the cells with brefeldin A (BFA), which arrests the exit of secretory proteins from the ER and causes extensive retrograde movement of Golgi membranes to the ER (Lippincott-Schwartz *et al.*, 1989, 1990; Doms *et al.*, 1989). The BFA treatment at 37°C caused Sso2p accumulation in a reticular structure resembling the ER. This was confirmed by immunoelectron microscopy that showed clear staining of the outer nuclear membrane and associated ER cisternae. Wash-out of BFA led to movement of Sso2p along the secretory pathway and the protein was chased to the Golgi and then the plasma membrane (I).

These results showed that Sso2p can be transported from the ER to the Golgi but did not prove that it was first inserted into the ER membrane. The lack of ER-specific staining might be because the protein exits from the ER very rapidly. In order to increase the expression level of Sso2p the cells were first incubated in the presence of cycloheximide to allow accumulation of Sso2p-specific messenger RNA. After removal of the drug transient staining of vesicular ER-like structures was seen. This proved that membrane insertion of Sso2p occurred at the ER from where it was rapidly transported to the Golgi. Taken together, these results thus confirmed that Sso2p is transported along the biosynthetic pathway to its site of action, the plasma membrane.

3.1.2 Membrane association and posttranslational insertion of Sso2p

The carboxy-terminal hydrophobic region of type II membrane proteins is thought to anchor the proteins into membranes because removal of it has been shown to cause cytosolic accumulation of the truncated proteins (Kutay *et al.*, 1993 and refs. therein). Previously, the membrane insertion of cytochrome b_5 had been shown to be SRP-independent (Anderson *et al.*, 1983) and the insertion of type II membrane proteins in general is considered to take place in a posttranslational fashion (Kutay *et al.*, 1993).

The mode of membrane insertion of Sso2p was investigated by expressing in BHK cells a shortened form of the protein, lacking the carboxy-terminal membrane anchor region, in addition to the wild type (wt) protein. Both forms of Sso2 protein were immunoprecipitated from the total microsomes and the cytosolic fraction of pulse-labelled cells, and the proportion of membrane association was analysed. More than 90% of the wild type Sso2p was found in the total microsomal fraction and most of it resisted washing with carbonate buffer pH 11.3. The truncated form of Sso2p, instead, was mainly found in the cytosolic fraction and the high pH wash removed the trace amount of the protein present in the microsomal membranes (I). The Sso2p is, thus, an integral membrane protein, which is retained in the membrane by its carboxy-terminal anchor region.

The mechanism of insertion of Sso2p into membranes was studied in vitro using dog pancreatic microsomes. Insertion of Sso2p was assayed by collecting the microsomes from the translation mixture by centrifugation through a sucrose cushion. This approach was chosen because the standard assays, signal sequence cleavage, glycosylation or protection against proteolytic digestion, could not be used to examine the membrane insertion of Sso2p. The wt Sso2p was able to associate with the microsomes, whereas the truncated form lacking the membrane anchor could not. When the microsomes were prior solubilised with 1% Triton-X, only trace amounts of Sso2p were present in the pellet, indicating that the protein was truly microsome-associated. Unlike the control proteins, interferon- $\alpha 1$ or β -lactamase, Sso2p was able to associate similarly with the membranes when translation had been inhibited by treatment of the translation mixture with either nucleases or cycloheximide prior to addition of the membranes (I), thus implying that it was predominantly inserted to the membrane posttranslationally. Similarly, both Aplysia californica and neuronal synaptobrevin, a post-Golgi v-SNARE, have been shown to insert to the membrane posttranslationally and the insertion site of the protein in neuroendocrine cells is the ER (Yamasaki et al., 1994; Kutay et al., 1995).

The mechanism by which retention and activation of SNAREs in the appropriate compartment is achieved is an interesting question. It has been suggested to be provided by interactions of SNAREs with other membrane proteins in the target organelle. According to an alternative view SNARE proteins may be kept nonfunctional by interactions with certain other proteins until they reach their correct site of action (Kutay et al., 1995). A candidate binding protein in the case of Sso2p could be Sec1p (III) since its neuronal homologue n-Sec1p has been shown to bind syntaxin and thus prevent binding of syntaxin to VAMP or SNAP25 (Pevsner et al., 1994). The targeting of t-SNAREs to the plasma membrane seems to depend on both the length and the amino acid composition of the transmembrane region (TMR) but not on the exact amino acid sequence. The targeting role of the TMR has been suggested by an experiment in which replacement of the TMR of the ER t-SNARE, Ufe1p, by that of Sso1p led to transport of Ufe1p to the plasma membrane (Rayner and Pelham, 1997). The transmembrane region cannot clearly be the sole determinant of the targeting to the correct location because Sso1p with a heterologous TMR could still be found in the plasma membrane. The cytosolic domain is also considered to influence the targeting (Rayner and Pelham, 1997).

3.2 *SEB1* encodes the β subunit of the yeast Sec61p complex

3.2.1 Cloning of *SEB* genes and characterisation of their encoded proteins

SEC15 encodes a component of the exocyst complex involved in regulation of the targeting/fusion of the secretory vesicles at the plasma membrane and shows an extensive pattern of genetic interactions with other late-acting SEC genes. Multicopy suppressors of *sec15-1*, a ts mutation, were isolated to find possible new genes functioning at the exocytic step. The genes thus isolated include SEB1 (II) and SEM1 (Jäntti *et al.*, 1999), which regulates both exocytosis and pseudohyphal growth in yeast. SEB1, however, was presumed to encode the β subunit of the Sec61p complex functioning in the ER translocation, because its sequencing revealed similarity (II) to the genes encoding the equivalent component in mammals and Arabidopsis thaliana (Hartmann *et al.*, 1994). Thus the name SEB1 for SEc61 Beta. The fact that overexpression of SEB1 could suppress temperature sensitivity of *sec61-2* and *sec61-3* mutants further confirmed the presumption. Localisation of Seb1p to the ER was established with cell fractionation and immunofluorescence microscopy, which showed a clear ER-specific staining for the Seb1p with antibodies raised against its

amino-terminal peptide (II). Furthermore, in an independent study Panzner *et al.* (1995) isolated Seb1p/Sbh1p as a component of the trimeric Sec61p complex containing the previously identified subunits Sec61p and Sss1p.

SEB1 was disrupted by replacing most of its coding region with URA3 gene. Unlike the other components of the Sec61p complex Seb1p is encoded by a nonessential gene (II). Because disruption of SEB1 did not show any detectable phenotype it was likely that there was a homologous gene in yeast encoding a redundant function. The results from heterologous hybridisation supported this view and led to isolation of a similar gene, SEB2, by using a SEB1-specific probe (II). Disruption of SEB2 also did not alter cell viability, but simultaneous disruption of both SEB genes made the yeast temperature sensitive at 38°C. A search of the yeast genome data base did not reveal any gene likely to be a third member of the family. Seb1p and Seb2p are type II membrane proteins of 82 and 88 amino acids, respectively. In accord, immunoelectron microscopy showed that Seb1p resides on the ER membrane with its amino-terminus facing the cytosol (II and the figure in the cover) and the protein was able to attach posttranslationally to membranes in vitro. Seb2p is a component of a novel Ssh1p complex presumed to function in cotranslational translocation into the ER (Finke et al., 1996; Table 3). Despite the 53% sequence identity at the amino acid level (II), the Seb proteins are specific for their complexes and thus not interchangeable (Finke et al., 1996).

Mammals	Ye	ast	Bacteria		
Sec61a	Sec61	Ssh1	SecY		
Sec61β	Seb1/Sbh1	Seb2/Sbh2	SecG		
Sec61y	Sss1	Sss1	SecE		

Table 3. The evolutionarily conserved components of the protein translocation complexes.

3.2.2 SEB1 interacts genetically with SEC61 and genes encoding the components of the exocyst

Overexpression of *SEB1*, similarly to that of *SSS1*, which encodes the γ subunit of the Sec61p complex (Esnault *et al.*, 1993), rescued the growth of the *sec61-2* and *sec61-3* mutants at the restrictive temperature (II). Moreover, the *sec61-2* mutation in combination with *seb1* resulted in a synthetic phenotype (IV),

which is observed when a combination of two different mutant genes in a haploid strain enhances the severity of the phenotype more than either of the mutant genes do by themselves (Sherman, 1997). However, suppression of *sec62-1* or *sec63-1*, mutant genes encoding components which interact with the Sec61p complex in posttranslational translocation machinery, could not be obtained.

Because *SEB1* was cloned as a multicopy suppressor of *sec15-1*, a mutant gene encoding a component of the exocyst complex, it was of interest to study whether overexpression of *SEB1* could also suppress defects in other exocyst mutants. Interestingly, elevated expression of *SEB1* suppressed all the exocyst mutants (IV and Table 5). In addition to the growth defect of *sec8-9* and *sec15-1* at restrictive temperature, the defective secretion of invertase in these cells was rescued by overexpression of *SEB1*. Furthermore, overexpression of *SEB1* abolished the accumulation of α factor precursor in *sec3-101* cells shifted to restrictive temperature. The genetic interaction between *SEB1* and the genes encoding exocyst components was further demonstrated by synthetic phenotypes observed in combination of *seb1 dseb2* with *sec10-2* or *sec15-1* (IV). Interestingly, in addition to being subunits of the exocyst, the Sec10 and Sec15 proteins were recently shown to form a separate subcomplex *in vivo* (Guo *et al.*, 1999).

3.2.3 Simultaneous disruption of *SEB* genes with *SEM1* deletion causes a synthetic phenotype (unpublished)

SEM1 is a novel gene that was isolated as a suppressor of sec15-1 and has been shown to interact genetically with a subset of genes encoding the exocyst components (Jäntti *et al.* 1999). Therefore, it was tested whether interaction could also be detected between the SEB genes and SEM1. The seb deletion strains were crossed with a sem1 disruptant that does not have any detectable phenotype on its own in our standard yeast strain under normal growth conditions. A majority of the tetrads from the crosses sem1 Δ x seb1 Δ and sem1 Δ x seb2 Δ had four viable spores (Table 4). Three different diploid clones were analysed from the cross sem1 Δ x seb1 Δ seb2 Δ because unexpectedly high lethality of the spores in this cross was observed (Table 4). Only 57 of the 80 tetrads analysed yielded viable spores. The viability of the spores varied between the three clones studied being especially low in the strains SKY16 and SKY17. In addition, all the spores grew slowly at 24°C and a number of spores had a serious growth defect at 35°C.

Table 4. Synthetic phenotype analysis. $seb1\Delta$, $seb2\Delta$ or $seb1\Delta seb2\Delta$ strains were crossed with a $sem1\Delta$ strain of opposite mating type and at least 20 tetrads were analysed from each cross. ^aOne tetrad had only one viable spore and in 18 tetrads all the spores were inviable. ^bEight tetrads had only one viable spore and in five tetrads all the spores were inviable.

Cross	Strain	Number of tetrads	Viable : inviable spores		
			<u>4:0</u>	<u>3:1</u>	<u>2:2</u>
sem1∆ x seb1∆	SKY13	20	14	5	1
sem1 Δ x seb2 Δ	SKY14	20	17	3	-
sem1 Δ x seb1 Δ seb2 Δ	SKY15	20	17	1	2
sem1 Δ x seb1 Δ seb2 Δ	SKY16	40^a	2	1	18
$sem1\Delta$ x $seb1\Delta seb2\Delta$	SKY17	20^b	-	2	5

Simultaneous disruption of the two *SEB* genes is known to cause inability to grow at 38°C. The *seb1* Δ *sem1* Δ spores of SKY13 and the *seb2* Δ *sem1* Δ spores of SKY14 grew normally at 38°C and 37°C. Therefore, the predominant phenotype of the slowly growing spores from SKY15, 16 and 17 was likely due to disruption of all the three genes *SEB1*, *SEB2*, *SEM1*. This was confirmed by Western analysis of strains derived from the spores. The strains unable to grow at 35°C lacked all the three proteins (Seb1p, Seb2p and Sem1p) whereas at least one of these proteins was present in the temperature insensitive strains. However, the surprisingly low spore viability observed in two of the clones of this cross cannot be explained by these gene disruptions only, because the distribution of the markers of the viable spores was as statistically expected. In a cross like this, four or eight descendant types are possible depending on the extent of recombination between *SEB1* and *SEB2*, which both reside in the same chromosome, and the number of ts *seb1*\Delta*seb2*\Delta*sem1*\Delta spores among all the viable ones was about 15%.

Two haploid strains, SKY15-6C and SKY15-13A, which lack the Sem1 and Seb proteins were taken for further analysis. They were transformed with multicopy plasmids containing a *SEB1*, *SEB2* or *SEM1* gene, or their vector controls. The ts growth defect of the strains grown on plates at 37°C was rescued by overexpression of any of these three genes. A set of transformants was grown also in liquid culture at restrictive temperature and secretion of invertase was studied. In addition to abolishing the growth defect of these disruptants,

overexpression of the *SEB* genes also relieved the defect in secretion of invertase (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Partial rescue of secretion of *invertase in* seb1 Δ seb2 Δ sem1 Δ *strain* SKY15-6C by overexpression of SEB genes. The disruptant strain transformed with YEpT-SEB1L, YEpSEB2L or their vector control, and the wild type strain NY179 carrying vector pRS425 were cultivated at 37°C and secretion of invertase after one hour derepression of SUC2 was studied. The amount of secreted invertase in the transformants of the disruptant strain was compared to that of the wild type transformant and the value for the wild type transformant was set at 100. SKY15-6C transformed with YEpT-SEB1L (1), YEpSEB2L (2) or their vector control (3). The bars indicate the mean value of two independent experiments.

3.2.4 Overproduction of components of the ER translocon can rescue the temperature sensitivity of the exocyst mutants

The components of the Sec61p complex interact with each other both genetically and physically. Since multiple genetic interactions had been observed for *SEB1*, it was studied whether overexpression of the other components of the ER translocon could suppress mutations in genes encoding the exocyst components. Remarkably both *SEC61* and *SSS1* suppressed several of them (IV and Table 5). *SEC61* rescued the growth defects of *sec3-101*, *sec6-4*, *sec8-9* and *sec10-2* at the restrictive temperature in addition to a weak suppression observed for *sec5-24*. *SSS1* suppressed *sec5-24*, *sec6-4* and *sec8-9*. Suppression of *sec6-4* was weaker than that of the other mutants. It was only clear on YPD plates and not on selective medium. Thus, elevated levels of ER translocon components could rescue the growth of several ts mutants with defects in components of the exocyst complex.

To study whether the suppression obtained by overproduction of ER translocon components was specific to exocyst mutants, all the late-acting *sec* mutants,

SEC1 homologues *sly1* and *slp1*, and a few other mutants were transformed with multicopy plasmids carrying SEC61, SEB1 or SSS1, or with the empty vector controls. The only other late-acting mutant that was clearly suppressed by overexpression of any one of these three genes was *sec1-1* (IV). In addition, SEB1 suppressed *sec2-41*, which encodes a truncated form of a protein mediating nucleotide exchange on Sec4p (Nair *et al.*, 1990; Walch-Solimena *et al.*, 1997), and *sec19-1*, which appears to cause secretory block at multiple steps (Novick *et al.*, 1980). *sec19-1* was later shown to be allelic to GDI1, which encodes the GDP dissociation inhibitor of Sec4p which functions in releasing the GTP-binding Sec4 protein from its target membrane (Garrett *et al.*, 1994).

Possible suppression of *kar2* and *sec13* by overexpression of *SEB1* was also tested, but was not detected. Overexpression of *SEB2*, the close homologue of *SEB1* encoding a subunit of the Ssh1p complex, did not suppress ts mutations in either genes encoding the exocyst components or *SEC61*, *SEC62* or *SEC63*. Overexpression of *SEC62* or *SEC63* could not suppress the exocyst mutations either (IV and Table 5). The genetic interactions, thus, appeared only between the Sec61p complex, Sec1p and the exocyst. Furthermore, the suppression occurred only in one direction. ER translocon components could suppress defects in exocytosis, but *sec61* mutants were not suppressed by overexpression of *SEC1*, *SEC3* or *SEC15* (IV). A model for the functional interplay between the components of the Sec61p complex and those needed for exocytosis will be discussed at 3.4.

3.3 Enhancement of protein secretion in S. cerevisiae

3.3.1 Secretion enhancement by overproduction of components of the yeast secretory pathway

The SSO genes were isolated as multicopy suppressors of *sec1-1*. During characterisation of the Sso proteins it was noticed that overexpression of SSO1 or SSO2 suppressed the secretion defect of *sec1-1* at 37°C and moreover led to elevated levels of secretion of a reporter protein (Aalto *et al.*, 1993) whereas the growth was rescued only at lower temperatures of 36°C and 35°C. Even more pronounced enhancement in the secretion of a reporter protein was obtained by overexpression of SSO genes at the permissive temperature when *sec1-1* cells do not manifest a growth or secretion defect (III). These studies were repeated in wild type cells to exclude the possibility that *sec1-1* cells had a defect even at the permissive temperature which overexpression of SSO genes would suppress. The secretion enhancement in the wild type yeast was similar to that in *sec1-1*

cells. The enhancement was 2 - 4 fold in comparison to the control strain carrying an empty vector instead of *SSO* expression plasmid (III).

The reporter protein used in these studies was *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* α -amylase, which has been shown to be secreted efficiently by its own signal sequence. Over 70% of the enzyme activity is found in the culture medium (Ruohonen *et al.*, 1987; III). The Sso1p and Sso2p overproduction strains secreted more α -amylase to the culture medium than either the control strain or segregant strains that had lost the respective overexpression plasmid. Western analysis confirmed that the amount of α -amylase and not its specific activity was increased in the culture medium. *SSO2* overexpression resulted in a slightly bigger enhancement effect than did overexpression of *SSO1*. In the further studies only *SSO2* was thus used.

The effect of *SSO2* on secretion of yeast's own secreted protein, invertase, and another heterologous protein, endoglucanase I of *Trichoderma reesei*, was also studied (III). When invertase was produced from the chromosomal *SUC2* gene, 1.5 fold enhancement of its secretion was obtained in the Sso2p overproduction strain. If the vesicle transport was loaded with invertase overexpressed from a multicopy plasmid, a 2 - 6 fold enhancement occurred in comparison to the control strain. The amount of endoglucanase activity in the culture medium, on the contrary, was not affected by elevated production of Sso2p. Endoglucanase I seems to accumulate in the yeast ER since only core-glycosylated protein has been detected indicating that it has not reached the Golgi (Penttilä *et al.*, 1987). Overexpression of *SSO2*, thus, was not able to rescue secretion of heterologous protein that is trapped in the ER.

The enhancement of α -amylase secretion is not probably caused by enhanced transcription. Northern analysis of Sso2p overproducing and the control strains did not detect any clear difference between the levels of messenger RNA for α -amylase. This method, however, may not be sensitive enough to detect slight differences in the levels. These results, thus, should be confirmed with the more sensitive sandwich hybridisation assay (Syvänen *et al.*, 1986). The mechanism of the secretion enhancement by overexpression of *SSO* genes is not yet known. Pulse labelling experiments suggested that secretion in the *SSO2* transformant continued longer than in the control strain and resulted in higher levels of secreted α -amylase (III). According to the cell fractionation studies, elevated levels of Sso2p accelerated secretion of proteins to the periplasmic space. This is in good agreement with the suggested function for Sso proteins, the yeast syntaxins, in the targeting/fusion of transport vesicles to the plasma membrane. The finding suggests that exocytosis is a rate-limiting step in protein secretion in *S. cerevisiae*.

In the original library plasmid YEpSSO2 (Aalto *et al.*, 1993; McKnight and McConaughy, 1983) used in the above studies, *SSO2* was expressed from the alcohol dehydrogenase I (*ADH1*) promoter. Ruohonen *et al.* (1991; 1995) have previously shown that the promoter ceases to function when glucose is consumed from the growth medium because of a longer non-functional transcript initiating upstream of the normal transcription initiation site. To remove the upstream transcription initiation site the promoter region was shortened to 700 bp (Ruohonen *et al.*, 1995). This promoter is denoted the middle *ADH1* promoter to differentiate it from the original, long form. The middle promoter is functional during both glucose and ethanol consumption phase which resulted in higher level of the Sso2 protein especially in the latter half of the growth period (III).

Using this new construct the enhancement effect obtained by overexpression of SSO2 was even more pronounced. Approximately 10 - 20 fold overproduction of Sso2p resulted in 2 - 4 fold enhanced secretion of the reporter protein. These results suggested that other component(s) must become limiting. Thus, yeast was presumed to contain other bottle necks in the secretory pathway. In agreement with this, overexpression of SEB1, a gene encoding a component of the ER translocon, led to enhanced secretion of both α -amylase and invertase (IV). Overexpression of the two components of the bacterial translocation machinery at the plasma membrane, SecY and SecE, has been shown to enhance secretion of human interleukin-6, suggesting that the translocation machinery may become rate-limiting during heterologous protein production (Pérez-Pérez et al., 1994). However, no evidence of an altered rate of protein translocation into the ER or transport via the secretory pathway was seen in the Seb1p overproduction strain in comparison to the control strain (IV). Thus it remains open which reaction in the secretory process is accelerated by SEB1 overexpression.

The secretion enhancement was studied in yeast carrying two different plasmids: YEp $\alpha a6$ for expression of α -amylase and another for *SSO2* or *SEB1* expression, or the respective empty vector control. Since these were multicopy plasmids, the possibly varying plasmid copy numbers and stability became of concern. To confirm the results obtained with two plasmids, the α -amylase expression cassette was integrated into the yeast genome (IV). The cassette was integrated to the *HIS3* or *URA3* locus of wild type yeast. The secretion enhancement in these integrant strains was similar to that obtained in the two-plasmid strains (IV and unpublished results).

3.3.2 A novel approach for enhancement of secretion

The ER has often been considered to form the major bottle neck in the secretion of heterologous proteins in yeast (Moir and Dumais, 1987; Elliott et al., 1989; Biemans et al., 1991; McCracken and Kruse 1993; Robinson et al., 1994). The factors mediating protein maturation have been presumed to be rate limiting. For one such factor, PDI, it has indeed been shown (Robinson et al., 1994) that overexpression leads to enhanced secretion of proteins containing several disulphide bonds. The degree of acceleration of secretion obtained by PDI overproduction is assumed to reflect the extent to which the secretory protein requires the disulphide bond interchange. Overexpression of Bip/Kar2p has also been reported to enhance secretion of heterologous protein. Furthermore, by simultaneous overproduction of both PDI and Kar2p even more elevated levels of secreted single chain antibody fragments were obtained (Shusta et al., 1998) indicating a need for higher amounts of both these components. Deletion of CNE1 was also reported to enhance secretion of heterologously expressed protein (Parlati et al., 1995). However, depletion of this component of the quality control machinery in the ER enabled secretion of malfolded proteins. A bottle neck at Golgi or post-Golgi transport has been reported for human insulinlike growth factor (Steube et al., 1991). The results of this study further confirm that there may be several rate-limiting steps in the yeast secretory pathway. One would be targeting/fusion of secretory vesicles to the plasma membrane mediated by Sso proteins and another the reaction facilitated by excess of Seb1p.

Since the Sso proteins and Seb1p are components of the secretory machinery in yeast they are likely to enhance the secretory process itself. Problems with many previous attempts to enhance secretion include that the enhancement obtained is specific for the reporter protein used in the screen (Kotylak and El-Gewely, 1991) or that the mechanism by which the accelerated secretion is obtained remains elusive (Sleep et al., 1991; Chow et al., 1992). For example, PSE1 was uncovered in a screen for enhanced secretion of killer toxin. Its overexpression caused also elevated secretion of α factor and acid phosphatase (Chow *et al.*, 1992). The gene has later been shown to encode a protein functioning in nuclear import of ribosomal proteins (Rout et al., 1997). Thus, it probably has no direct role in protein secretion. In many supersecretory strains obtained through random mutagenesis other processes than secretion as such have been altered (Sakai et al., 1988; Wingfield and Dickinson, 1993). Also, in many cases the mutations causing the supersecretory phenotype are recessive (Smith et al., 1985; Sakai et al., 1988; Shuster et al., 1989) thus making it difficult to apply them to industrial strains, which are polyploid or aneuploid. Secretion enhancement by overexpression of secretory genes, instead, is a novel, more generally applicable approach to increase the moderate secretory capacity of *S. cerevisiae*.

3.4 A model for the functional interplay between ER translocon, exocyst and Sso2p

The Sso proteins and Seb1p probably carry out reactions that are rate-limiting in the secretory pathway, because often such components are identified by their overexpression (Rine, 1991). Lew and Simon (1991) suggested that the release sites on the yeast plasma membrane are rate-limiting, which is further supported by the results obtained with SSO2 overexpression (III). SEB1 encodes the β subunit of the Sec61p complex, which functions in the ER translocation (II). Electron microscopic analysis has suggested that the three subunits are not present in always the same stoichiometric ratio in the Sec61p complex (Hanein et al., 1996). Since Seb1p is more easily dissociable and can remain stable on its own (Biederer et al., 1996) it is considered to be probably absent under certain conditions (Hanein et al., 1996). The most basic translocation machinery may, thus, comprise only the channel-forming Sec61p itself and Sss1p, which has been suggested to serve as a gate for the translocation pore (Plath et al., 1998), while Seb1p would play an accessory or regulating role. The fact that overproduction of Seb1p does not alter the levels of the other two components of the Sec61p complex (IV) is in agreement with a regulatory role for Seb1p.

The exact function of the nonessential β subunit of the complex, Seb1p, is not known. Disruption of *SEB1* only mildly impairs translocation of α factor precursor (Finke *et al.*, 1996) and does not affect that of *Bacillus* α -amylase (discussed in IV). Even disruption of both *SEB* genes leads only to a slight reduction in protein translocation into ER (Finke *et al.*, 1996). The mammalian Sec61 β is not essential but facilitates cotranslational translocation *in vitro* (Kalies *et al.*, 1998). Overexpression of SecG, a component of the *E. coli* translocation machinery thought to be homologous to the eukaryotic β subunits of the Sec61p complex, has been reported to facilitate protein export (Bost and Belin, 1995). Our finding that *SEB1* overexpression in *sec3-101* cells relieved accumulation of a presumably untranslocated precursor of α factor (IV) is consistent with the assumption that *SEB1* may facilitate ER translocation in yeast.

Genetic interactions between genes imply that they contribute to the same pathway, but do not prove that the encoded proteins physically interact. Both Seb1p (II) and Sss1p (Esnault *et al.*, 1993) reside in the ER even when

overproduced whereas the exocyst is indicated to function at the plasma membrane. Physical interaction between components of the Sec61p and exocyst complexes seems unlikely, though the ER and plasma membrane are not necessarily spatially far apart from each other (Preuss *et al.*, 1991). Several secretory proteins have been shown to function at more than one step along the secretory pathway (Graham and Emr, 1991; Griff *et al.*, 1992, Roberg *et al.*, 1997a; b; Finger and Novick, 1997). Seb1p could also have a dual function: one as a component of the Sec61p complex and another possibly on its own, but still in the ER. This would be in accord with the results showing that, unlike overexpression of *SEC61* or *SSS1*, that of *SEB1* was able to relieve the defective secretion of invertase by *sec8-9* and *sec15-1* cells at restrictive temperature (IV).

One possibility is that suppression of the exocyst mutations by *SEB1* overexpression would be caused by more efficient translocation of secreted proteins into the ER. However, no experimental evidence was obtained to support this. Therefore it seems likely that the suppressions are mediated by other factors. It was reasoned that increased levels of Seb1 protein could facilitate translocation/transport of components that would enhance the exocyst function and that would normally be present in limiting amounts. Such components could function e.g. as receptors docking the exocyst at the membrane. It was further reasoned that it should be possible to identify such receptor proteins as suppressors of exocyst mutations, independent of ER function.

Good candidates for such factors would be the Sso proteins, the plasma membrane t-SNAREs. Overexpression of the SSO2 gene suppresses all the exocyst mutants that cause structural instability of the complex (TerBush and Novick, 1995) except sec6-4 (Aalto et al., 1993; IV and Table 5). Similarly, another plasma membrane t-SNARE, Sec9p (Brennwald et al., 1994), as well as Sec1p, a protein regulating the SNARE function, is known to suppress exocyst mutants (Aalto et al., 1993; IV and Table 5). In wild type cells SSO2 overexpression leads to enhanced protein secretion, which indicates that Sso2p may be present in limiting amounts on the plasma membrane (III). These results strongly suggest that Sso2p may facilitate the exocyst function at the plasma membrane. This conclusion is further supported by results from animal cells. Antibodies raised against the rsec8 component of the rat exocysts were shown to co-immunoprecipitate the plasma membrane t-SNARE implying physical interaction between exocyst components and the t-SNARE (Hsu et al., 1996). Since Sso2p is transported to its site of action via the biosynthetic pathway (I) the elevated levels of Seb1p might facilitate insertion of Sso2p into the ER membrane. The suppression of exocyst mutants and the enhancement of

Mutation	Suppressor gene									
	SEB1	SEC61	SSS1	SEB2	SEC62	SEC63	SEC1 ^a	$SEC4^{b}$	SEC9 ^c	SSO2 ^d
sec1-1	+	+	+	ND	ND	ND	+	+/-	+	+
sec2-41	+	-	-	ND	ND	ND	-	+	-	-
sec3-101	+	+	-	-	-	-	+	-	+	+
sec4-8	-	-	-	-	ND	ND	-	+	+/-	-
sec5-24	+	+	+	-	-	-	+	+/-	-	+
sec6-4	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
sec8-9	+	+	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+
sec9-4	-	-	-	ND	ND	ND	-	-	+	-
sec10-2	+	+	-	-	-	-	+	+/-	-	+
sec15-1	+	-	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	+
sec19-1	+	-	-	ND	ND	ND	ND	+	ND	ND
sso2-1	-	-	-	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	+	+

Table 5. Multicopy suppression of late acting sec mutants. The genes encoding the exocyst components are marked in bold. The SEC3 *mutant allele in studies of* SEC4 *or* SEC9 *overexpression was* sec3-2. ^{*a*}*Aalto* et al., 1993; ^{*b*}*Salminen and Novick,* 1987. SEC4 was expressed from a CEN plasmid. The results obtained with SEC4 multicopy plasmid were essentially the same (ibid). ^{*c*}*Brennwald* et al., 1994; ^{*d*}*Aalto* et al., 1993 and this study. ND = not determined.

secretion in wild type yeast by overexpression of *SEB1* could, thus, be mediated by increased amounts of the Sso proteins at the plasma membrane. However, the preliminary cell fractionation studies did not reveal an elevated level of membrane-bound Sso2p after overexpression of *SEB1* (discussed in IV). This method cannot disclose possible local differences in concentration, so further studies are still needed to elucidate this question. The role of Sec1p in these interactions is more difficult to define. The strong genetic interactions (Table 5), suppression of exocyst mutants by *SEC1* overexpression and suppression of *sec1-1* by elevated levels of the translocon components or plasma membrane t-SNAREs, suggest that the *SEC1* has a role in this play. The nature of this role must await further elucidation of the function of Sec1p itself.

Another possibility is that the influence of *SEB1* overexpression is mediated by other components than proteins, *e.g.* by membrane lipids. Interestingly, David *et al.* (1998) recently reported that mutations in genes involved in the long chain fatty acid elongation and sphingolipid synthesis that occur in the ER abolished the need for post-Golgi v-SNARE function, giving strong support for interactions between ER functions and those at the site of exocytosis. This raises the intriguing possibility that *SEB1* overexpression might enhance the activity rather than the absolute amount of Sso2p in the plasma membrane, the enhancement being mediated by a change in membrane lipid composition.

4. Conclusions

The novel genetic interactions revealed in this study indicate a functional connection between components of the early and late steps of the yeast secretory pathway. A model was suggested to explain the mechanism by which over-expression of *SEB1* leads to enhanced protein secretion and suppression of all available exocyst mutations. The model predicts that exocytosis is a rate-limiting step in protein secretion in yeast. This step can be accelerated by overproduction of proteins functioning in targeting/fusion at the plasma membrane and, interestingly, by a component, Seb1p, of the ER translocation machinery. Overexpression of *SEB1* may increase the amount of Sso2p at the plasma membrane or enhance the activity, perhaps in a membrane lipid-dependent manner. Several aspects of this model, however, need to be experimentally tested. Most important would be to demonstrate physical interaction between the exocyst and t-SNARE components.

The exact mechanism by which overproduction of Sso proteins and Seb1p execute their secretion enhancing effect will be an interesting target of future studies. Moreover, other rate-limiting factors are likely to be found and the balance between levels of different secretory components will also require consideration. The effects on protein secretion of overproduction of other components of the post-Golgi SNARE complex should also be studied in the future.

References

Aalto, M. K., Ruohonen, L., Hosono, K. and Keränen, S. 1991. Cloning and sequencing of the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae SEC1* gene localised on chromosome IV. Yeast **7**, 643-650.

Aalto, M. K., Keränen, S. and Ronne, H. 1992. A family of proteins involved in intracellular transport. Cell **68**, 181-182.

Aalto, M. K., Ronne, H. and Keränen, S. 1993. Yeast syntaxins Sso1p and Sso2p belong to a family of related membrane proteins that function in vesicular transport. EMBO J. **12**, 4095-4104.

Aalto, M. K., Jäntti, J., Östling, J., Keränen, S. and Ronne, H. 1997. Mso1p: A yeast protein that functions in secretion and interacts physically and genetically with Sec1p. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **94**, 7331-7336.

Ainscough, R. et al. 1991. EMBL Databank Rel., 29, M75825.

Akimaru, J., Matsuyama, S.-I., Tokuda, H. and Mizushima, S. 1991. Reconstitution of a protein translocation system containing purified SecY, SecE, and SecA from *Eschericihia coli*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **88**, 6545-6549.

Amaya, Y., Nakano, A., Ito, K. and Mori, M. 1990. Isolation of a yeast gene, *SRH1*, that encodes a homologue of the 54K subunit of mammalian signal recognition particle. J. Biochem. **107**, 457-463.

Amberg, D. C., Zahner, J. E., Mulholland, J. W., Pringle, J. R. and Botstein, D. 1997. Aip3p/Bud6p, a yeast actin-interacting protein that is involved in morphogenesis and the selection of bipolar budding sites. Mol. Biol. Cell **8**, 729-753.

Anderson, D. J., Mostov, K. E. and Blobel, G. 1983. Mechanisms of integration of de novo-synthesized polypeptides into membranes: Signal-recognition particle is required for integration into microsomal membranes of calcium ATPase and of lens MP26 but not of cytochrome b₅. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **80**, 7249-7253.

Ayscough, K. R., Stryker, J., Pokala, N., Sanders, M., Crews, P. and Drubin, D. G. 1997. High rates of actin filament turnover in budding yeast and roles for

actin in establishment and maintenance of cell polarity revealed using the actin inhibitor latrunculin-A. J. Cell Biol. **137**, 399-416.

Baldari, C., Murray, J. A. H., Ghiara, P., Cesareni, G. and Galeotti, C. L. 1987. A novel peptide leader which allows efficient secretion of a fragment of human interleukin 1b in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. EMBO J. **6**, 229-234.

Bannykh, S. I., Nishimura, N. and Balch, W. E. 1998. Getting into the Golgi. Trends Cell Biol. **8**, 21-25.

Banta, L. M., Vida, T. A., Herman, P. K. and Emr, S. D. 1990. Characterization of yeast Vps33p, a protein required for vacuolar protein sorting and vacuole biogenesis. Mol. Cell. Biol. **10**, 4638-4649.

Becherer, K. A., Baldwin, K. and Jones, E. W. 1994. *PEP12*. In: Rothblatt, J., Novick, P. and Stevens, T. (Eds.). Guidebook to the Secretory Pathway. Oxford: Oxford University Press. Pp. 253-254.

Belin, D., Bost, S., Vassalli, J.-D. and Strub, K. 1996. A two-step recognition of signal sequences determines the translocation efficiency of proteins. EMBO J. **15**, 468-478.

Bennett, M. K., Calakos, N. and Scheller, R. 1992. Syntaxin: A synaptic protein implicated in docking of synaptic vesicles at presynaptic active zone. Science **257**, 255-259.

Bennett, M. K. and Scheller, R. H. 1993. The molecular machinery for secretion is conserved from yeast to neurons. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **90**, 2559-2563.

Bennett, M. K., García-Arrarás, J., Elferink, L. A., Peterson, K., Fleming, A. M., Hazuka, C. D. and Scheller, R. H. 1993. The syntaxin family of vesicular transport receptors. Cell **74**, 863-873.

Bernstein, H. D., Poritz, M. A., Strub, K., Hoben, P. J., Brenner, S. and Walter, P. 1989. Model for signal sequence recognition from amino-acid sequence of 54K subunit of signal recognition particle. Nature **340**, 482-486.

Biederer, T., Volkwein, C. and Sommer, T. 1996. Degradation of subunits of the Sec61p complex, an integral component of the ER membrane, by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. EMBO J. **15**, 2069-2076.

Biemans, R., Thines, D., Rutgers, T., De Wilde, M. and Cabezon, T. 1991. The large surface protein of hepatitis B virus is retained in the yeast endoplasmic reticulum and provokes its unique enlargement. DNA Cell Biol. **10**, 191-200.

Bordallo, J., Plemper, R. K., Finger, A. and Wolf, D. H. 1998. Der3p/Hrd1p is required for endoplasmic reticulum-associated degradation of misfolded lumenal and integral membrane proteins. Mol. Biol. Cell **9**, 209-222.

Bost, S. and Belin, D. 1995. A new genetic selection identifies essential residues in SecG, a component of the *Escherichia coli* protein export machinery. EMBO J. **14**, 4412-4421.

Bowser, R. and Novick, P. 1991. Sec15 protein, an essential component of the exocytic apparatus, is associated with the plasma membrane and with a soluble 19.5S particle. J. Cell Biol. **112**, 1117-1131.

Bowser, R., Müller, H., Govindan, B. and Novick, P. 1992. Sec8p and Sec15p are components of a plasma membrane-associated 19.5S particle that may function downstream of Sec4p to control exocytosis. J. Cell Biol. **118**, 1041-1056.

Brennwald, P., Kearns, B., Champion, K., Keränen, S., Bankaitis, V. and Novick, P. 1994. Sec9 is a SNAP-25-like component of a yeast SNARE complex that may be the effector of Sec4 function in exocytosis. Cell **79**, 245-258.

Bretscher, A., Drees, B., Harsay, E., Schott, D. and Wang, T. 1994. What are the basic functions of microfilaments? Insights from studies in budding yeast. J. Cell. Biol. **126**, 821-825.

Broach, J. R. and Thorner, J. 1996. High-throughput screening for drug discovery. Nature **384**, 14-16.

Brodsky, J. L. and Schekman, R. 1993. A Sec63p-Bip complex from yeast is required for protein translocation in a reconstituted proteoliposome. J. Cell Biol. **123**, 1355-1363.

Brodsky, J. L., Goeckeler, J. and Schekman, R. 1995. Bip and Sec63p are required for both co-and posttranslational protein translocation into the yeast endoplasmic reticulum. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **92**, 9643-9646.

Brodsky, J. L. and McCracken, A. A. 1997. ER-associated and proteasomemediated protein degradation: how two topologically restricted events came together. Trends Cell Biol. **7**, 151-156.

Brown, J. D., Hann, B. C., Medzihradszky, K. F., Niwa, M., Burlingame, A. L. and Walter, P. 1996. Subunits of the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* signal recognition particle required for its functional expression. EMBO J. **13**, 4390-4400.

Brundage, L., Hendrick, J. P., Schiebel, E., Driessen, A. J. M. and Wickner, W. 1990. The purified *E. coli* integral membrane protein SecY/SecE is sufficient for reconstitution of SecA-dependent precursor protein translocation. Cell **62**, 649-657.

Burgess, T. L. and Kelly, R. B. 1987. Constitutive and regulated secretion of proteins. Annu. Rev. Cell. Biol. **3**, 243-293.

Byers, B. 1981. Cytology of the yeast life cycle. In: Strathern, J. N., Jones, E. W. and Broach, J. R. (Eds.). The Molecular Biology of the Yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, Life Cycle and Inheritance. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. Pp. 59-96.

Böhni, P. C., Deshaies, R. J. and Schekman, R. 1988. *SEC11* is required for signal peptide processing and yeast cell growth. J. Cell Biol. **106**, 1035-1042.

Chen, Y., Pioli, D. and Piper, P. W. 1994. Overexpression of the gene for polyubiquitin in yeast confers increased secretion of a human leucocyte protease inhibitor. Bio/Technol. **12**, 819-823.

Chirico, W. J., Waters, M. G. and Blobel, G. 1988. 70K heat shock related proteins stimulate protein translocation into microsomes. Nature **332**, 805-810.

Chow, T. Y.-K., Ash, J. J., Dignard, D. and Thomas, D. Y. 1992. Screening and identification of a gene, *PSE-1*, that affects protein secretion in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Cell Sci. **101**, 709-719.

Clary, D. O., Griff, I. C. and Rothman, J. E. 1990. SNAPs, a family of NSF attachment proteins involved in intracellular membrane fusion in animals and yeast. Cell **61**, 709-721.

Cole, N. B., Ellenberg, J., Song, J., DiEuliis, D. and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. 1998. Retrograde transport of Golgi-localized proteins to the ER. J. Cell Biol. **140**, 1-15.

Corsi, A. K. and Schekman, R. 1997. The lumenal domain of Sec63p stimulates the ATPase activity of Bip and mediates Bip recruitment to the translocon in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Cell Biol. **137**, 1483-1493.

Cosson, P. and Letourneur, F. 1994. Coatomer interaction with di-lysine endoplasmic reticulum retention motifs. Science **263**, 1629-1631.

Cowles, C. R., Emr, S. D. and Horazdovsky, B. F. 1994. Mutations in the *VPS45* gene, a *SEC1* homologue, result in vacuolar protein sorting defects and accumulation of membrane vesicles. J. Cell Sci. **107**, 3449-3459.

Craven, R. A., Tyson, J. R. and Stirling, C. J. 1997. A novel subfamily of Hsp70s in the endoplasmic reticulum. Trends Cell Biol. **7**, 277-282.

Crowley, K. S., Liao, S., Worrell, V. E., Reinhart, G. D. and Johnson, A. E. 1994. Secretory proteins move through the endoplasmic reticulum via an aqueous, gated pore. Cell **78**, 461-471.

David, D., Sundarababu, S. and Gerst, J. E. 1998. Involvement of long chain fatty acid elongation in the trafficking of secretory vesicles in yeast. J. Cell Biol. **143**, 1167-1182.

Dascher, C., Ossig, R., Gallwitz, D. and Schmitt, H. D. 1991. Identification and structure of four yeast genes (*SLY*) that are able to suppress the functional loss of *YPT1*, a member of the *RAS* superfamily. Mol. Cell. Biol. **11**, 872-885.

Deshaies, R. J., Koch, B. D., Werner, W. M., Craig, E. A. and Schekman, R. 1988. A subfamily of stress proteins facilitates translocation of secretory and mitochondrial precursor polypeptides. Nature **332**, 800-805.

Deshaies, R. and Schekman, R. 1989. *SEC62* encodes a putative membrane protein required for protein translocation into the yeast endoplasmic reticulum. J. Cell Biol. **109**, 2653-2664.

Deshaies, R. and Schekman, R. 1990. Structural and functional dissection of Sec62p, a membrane-bound component of the yeast endoplasmic reticulum protein import machinery. Mol. Cell. Biol. **10**, 6024-6035.

Deshaies, R. J., Sanders, S. L., Feldheim, D. A. and Schekman, R. 1991. Assembly of yeast Sec proteins involved in translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum into a membrane-bound multisubunit complex. Nature **349**, 806-808.

Doms, R. W., Russ, G. and Yewdell, J. W. 1989. Brefeldin A redistributes resident and itinerant Golgi proteins to the endoplasmic reticulum. J. Cell Biol. **109**, 61-72.

Douville, K., Leonard, M., Brundage, L., Nishiyama, K.-I., Tokuda, H., Mizushima, S. and Wickner, W. 1994. Band I subunit of *Escherichia coli* preprotein translocase and integral membrane export factor P12 are the same protein. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 18705-18707.

Drubin, D. G. and Nelson, W. M. 1996. Origins of cell polarity. Cell 84, 335-344.

Egerton, M., Zueco, J. and Boyd, A. 1993. Molecular characterization of the *SEC1* gene of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: Subcellular distribution of a protein required for yeast protein secretion. Yeast **9**, 703-713.

Elliott, S., Giffin, J., Suggs, S., Lau, E. P. and Banks, A. R. 1989. Secretion of glycosylated human erythropoietin from yeast directed by the α -factor leader region. Gene **79**, 167-180.

Esmon, B., Novick, P. and Schekman, R. 1981. Compartmentalized assembly of oligosaccharides on exported glycoproteins in yeast. Cell **25**, 451-460.

Esnault, Y., Blondel, M.-O., Deshaies, R. J., Schekman, R. and Képès, F. 1993. The yeast *SSS1* gene is essential for secretory protein translocation and encodes a conserved protein of the endoplasmic reticulum. EMBO J. **12**, 4083-4093.

Esnault, Y., Feldheim, D., Blondel, M.-O., Schekman, R. and Képès, F. 1994. *SSS1* encodes a stabilizing component of the Sec61 subcomplex of the yeast translocation apparatus. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 27478-27485.

Fang, H. and Green, N. 1994. Nonlethal *sec71-1* and *sec72-1* mutations eliminate proteins associated with the Sec63p-Bip complex from *S. cerevisiae*. Mol. Biol. Cell **5**, 933-942.

Fang, H., Panzner, S., Mullins, C., Hartmann, E. and Green, N. 1996. The homologue of mammalian SPC12 is important for efficient signal peptidase activity in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Biol. Chem. **271**, 16460-16465.

Fang, H., Mullins, C. and Green, N. 1997. In addition to *SEC11*, a newly identified gene, *SPC3*, is essential for signal peptidase activity in the yeast endoplasmic reticulum. J. Biol. Chem. **272**, 13152-13158.

Farquhar, M. G. 1985. Progress in unraveling pathways of Golgi traffic. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 1, 447-488.

Feldheim, D., Rothblatt, J. and Schekman, R. 1992. Topology and functional domains of Sec63p, an endoplasmic reticulum membrane protein required for secretory protein translocation. Mol. Cell. Biol. **12**, 3288-3296.

Feldheim, D., Yoshimura, K., Admon, A. and Schekman, R. 1993. Structural and functional characterization of Sec66p, a new subunit of the polypeptide translocation apparatus in the yeast endoplasmic reticulum. Mol. Biol. Cell **4**, 931-939.

Feldheim, D. and Schekman, R. 1994. Sec72p contributes to the selective recognition of signal peptides by the secretory polypeptide translocation complex. J. Cell Biol. **126**, 935-943.

Ferro-Novick, S. and Novick, P. 1993. The role of GTP-binding proteins in transport along the exocytic pathway. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. **9**, 575-599.

Ferro-Novick, S. and Jahn, R. 1994. Vesicle fusion from yeast to man. Nature **370**, 191-193.

Finger, F. P. and Novick, P. 1997. Sec3p is involved in secretion and morphogenesis in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol. Biol. Cell **8**, 647-662.

Finger, F. P. and Novick, P. 1998. Spatial regulation of exocytosis: Lessons from yeast. J. Cell Biol. **142**, 609-612.

Finger, F. P., Hughes, T. E. and Novick, P. 1998. Sec3p is a spatial landmark for polarized secretion in budding yeast. Cell **92**, 559-571.

Finke, K., Plath, K., Panzner, S., Prehn, S., Rapoport, T. A., Hartmann, E. and Sommer, T. 1996. A second trimeric complex containing homologs of the

Sec61p complex functions in protein transport across the ER membrane of *S. cerevisiae*. EMBO J. **15**, 1482-1494.

Fisher von Mollard, G., Nothwehr, F. S. and Stevens, T. H. 1997. The yeast v-SNARE Vti1p mediates two vesicle transport pathways through interactions with the t-SNAREs Sed5p and Pep12p. J. Cell Biol. **137**, 1511-1524.

Galli, T., Garcia, E. P., Mundigl, O., Chilcote, T. J. and de Camilli, P. 1995. vand t-SNAREs in neuronal exocytosis: A need for additional components to define sites of release. Neuropharmacol. **34**, 1351-1360.

Garcia, E. P., Gatti, E., Butler, M., Burton, J. and de Camilli, P. 1994. A rat brain Sec1 homologue related to Rop and UNC18 interacts with syntaxin. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **91**, 2003-2007.

Garcia, E. P., McPherson, P. S., Chilcote, T. J., Takei, K. and de Camilli, P. 1995. rbSec1A and B colocalize with syntaxin 1 and SNAP-25 throughout the axon, but are not in a stable complex with syntaxin. J. Cell Biol. **129**, 105-120.

Garrett, M. D., Zahner, J. E., Cheney, C. M. and Novick, P. J. 1994. GDI1 encodes a GDP dissociation inhibitor that plays an essential role in the yeast secretory pathway. EMBO J. **13**, 1718-1728.

Gaynor, E. C., te Heesen, S., Graham, T. R., Aebi, M. and Emr, S. D. 1994. Signal-mediated retrieval of a membrane protein from the Golgi to the ER in yeast. J. Cell Biol. **127**, 653-665.

Gerst, J. E., Rodgers, L., Riggs, M. and Wigler, M. 1992. *SNC1*, a yeast homolog of the synaptic vesicle-associated membrane protein/synaptobrevin gene family: Genetic interactions with the *RAS* and *CAP* genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **89**, 4338-4342.

Gething, M.-J. and Sambrook, J. 1992. Protein folding in the cell. Nature **355**, 33-45.

Gierasch, L. M. 1989. Signal sequences. Biochemistry 28, 923-930.

Glick, B. S. 1995. Can Hsp70 proteins act as force-generating motors? Cell 80, 11-14.
Govindan, B., Bowser, R. and Novick, P. 1995. The role of Myo2, a yeast class V myosin, in vesicular transport. J. Cell Biol. **128**, 1055-1068.

Goud, B., Salminen, A., Walworth, N. C. and Novick, P. 1988. A GTP-binding protein required for secretion rapidly associates with secretory vesicles and the plasma membrane in yeast. Cell **53**, 753-768.

Graham, T. R. and Emr, S. D. 1991. Compartmental organization of Golgispecific protein modification and vacuolar protein sorting events defined in a yeast *sec18* (*NSF*) mutant. J. Cell Biol. **114**, 207-218.

Green, N., Fang, H. and Walter, P. 1992. Mutants in three novel complementation groups inhibit membrane protein insertion into and soluble protein translocation across the endoplasmic reticulum membrane of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Cell Biol. **116**, 597-604.

Griff, I. C., Schekman, R., Rothman, J. E. and Kaiser, C. A. 1992. The yeast *SEC17* gene product is functionally equivalent to mammalian α -SNAP protein. J. Biol. Chem. **267**, 12106-12115.

Griffiths, G. and Simons, K. 1986. The trans Golgi network: Sorting at the exit site of the Golgi complex. Science **234**, 438-443.

Grindstaff, K. K., Yeaman, C., Anandasabapathy, N., Hsu, S.-C., Rodriguez-Boulan, E., Scheller, R. H. and Nelson, W. J. 1998. Sec6/8 complex is recruited to cell-cell contacts and specifies transport vesicle delivery to the basal-lateral membrane in epithelial cells. Cell **93**, 731-740.

Guo, W., Roth, D., Gatti, E., De Camilli, P. and Novick, P. 1997. Identification and characterization of homologues of the exocyst component Sec10p. FEBS Lett. **404**, 135-139.

Guo, W., Roth, D., Walch-Solimena, C. and Novick, P. 1999. The exocyst is an effector for Sec4p, targeting secretory vesicles to sites of exocytosis. EMBO J. **18**, 1071-1080.

Görlich, D., Prehn, S., Hartmann, E., Kalies, K.-U. and Rapoport, T. 1992. A mammalian homolog of SEC61p and SECYp is associated with ribosomes and nascent polypeptides during translocation. Cell **71**, 489-503.

Görlich, D. and Rapoport, T. A. 1993. Protein translocation into proteoliposomes reconstituted from purified components of the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Cell **75**, 615-630.

Götte, M. and Fisher von Mollard, G. 1998. A new beat for the SNARE drum. Trends Cell Biol. **8**, 215-218.

Haarer, B. K., Corbett, A., Kweon, Y., Petzold, A. S., Silver, P. and Brown, S. S. 1996. *SEC3* mutations are synthetically lethal with profilin mutations and cause defects in diploid-specific bud-site selection. Genetics **144**, 495-510.

Halachmi, N. and Lev, Z. 1996. The Sec1 family: A novel family of proteins involved in synaptic transmission and general secretion. J. Neurochem. **66**, 889-897.

Hamman, B. D., Hendershot, L. M. and Johnson, A. E. 1998. Bip maintains the permeability barrier of the ER membrane by sealing the lumenal end of the translocon pore before and early in translocation. Cell **92**, 747-758.

Hammond, C. and Helenius, A. 1995. Quality control in the secretory pathway. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. **7**, 523-529.

Hanein, D., Matlack, K. E. S., Jungnickel, B., Plath, K., Kalies, K.-U., Miller, K. R., Rapoport, T. A. and Akey, C. W. 1996. Oligomeric rings of the Sec61p complex induced by ligands required for protein translocation. Cell **87**, 721-732.

Hann, B. C., Poritz, M. A. and Walter, P. 1989. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* contain a homologue to the 54-kD subunit of the signal recognition particle that in *S. cerevisiae* is essential for growth. J. Cell Biol. **109**, 3223-3230.

Hann, B. C. and Walter, P. 1991. The signal recognition particle in S. cerevisiae. Cell 67, 131-144.

Hann, B. C., Stirling, C. J. and Walter, P. 1992. *SEC65* gene product is a subunit of the yeast signal recognition particle required for its integrity. Nature **356**, 532-533.

Hansen, W., Garcia, P. D. and Walter, P. 1986. *in vitro* protein translocation across the yeast endoplasmic reticulum: ATP-dependent posttranslational translocation of the prepro- α -factor. Cell **45**, 397-406.

Hansen, W. and Walter, P. 1988. Prepro-carboxypeptidase Y and a truncated form of preinvertase, but not full-length invertase, can be posttranslationally translocated across microsomal membranes from *Saccharomycs cerevisiae*. J. Cell Biol. **106**, 1075-1081.

Hardwick, K. G. and Pelham, H. R. B. 1992. *SED5* encodes a 39-kD integral membrane protein required for vesicular transport between the ER and the Golgi complex. J. Cell Biol. **119**, 513-521.

Harsay, E. and Bretscher, A. 1995. Parallel secretory pathways to the cell surface in yeast. J. Cell Biol. **131**, 297-310.

Hartmann, E., Görlich, D., Kostka, S., Otto, A., Kraft, R. Knespel, S., Bürger, E., Rapoport, T. A. and Prehn, S. 1993. A tetrameric complex of membrane proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. Eur. J. Biochem. **214**, 375-381.

Hartmann, E., Sommer, T., Prehn, S., Görlich, D., Jentsch, S. and Rapoport, T. A. 1994. Evolutionary conservation of components of the protein translocation complex. Nature **367**, 654-657.

Hata, Y., Slaughter, C. A. and Südhof, T. C. 1993. Synaptic vesicle fusion complex contains *unc-18* homologue bound to syntaxin. Nature **366**, 347-351.

Hata, Y. and Südhof, T. C. 1995. A novel ubiquitous form of Munc-18 interacts with multiple syntaxins. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 13022-13028.

Hazuka, C. D., Hsu, C.-S. and Scheller, R. H. 1997. Characterization of a cDNA encoding a subunit of the rat brain rsec6/8 complex. Gene **187**, 67-73.

Hedge, R. S., Voigt, S., Rapoport, T. A. and Lingpappa, V. R. 1998. TRAM regulates the exposure of nascent secretory proteins to the cytosol during translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum. Cell **92**, 621-631.

Heijne, G. von 1985. Signal sequences: The limits of variation. J. Mol. Biol. 184, 99-105.

Heijne, G. von 1986. Towards a comparative anatomy of N-terminal topogenic protein sequences. J. Mol. Biol. **189**, 239-242.

Helenius, A., Trombetta, E. S., Hebert, D. N. and Simons, J. F. 1997. Calnexin, calreticulin and the folding of glycoproteins. Trends Cell Biol. **7**, 193-199.

Herscovics, A. and Orlean, P. 1993. Glycoprotein biosynthesis in yeast. FASEB J. 7, 540-550.

Hiller, M. M., Finger, A., Schweiger, M. and Wolf, D. H. 1996. ER degradation of a misfolded luminal protein by the cytosolic ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Science **273**, 1725-1728.

Hirai, Y., Takebe, K., Takashina, M., Kobayashi, S. and Takeichi, M. 1992. Epimorphin: A mesenchymal protein essential for epithelial morphogenesis. Cell **69**, 471-481.

Hirai, Y., Nakagawa, S.-I. and Takeichi, M. 1993. Reexamination of the properties of epimorphin and its possible roles. Cell **73**, 426-427.

Hodel, A., Schäfer, T., Gerosa, D. and Burger, M. M. 1994. In cromaffin cells, the mammalian Sec1p homologue is a syntaxin 1A-binding protein associated with chromaffin granules. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 8623-8626.

Holkeri, H., Paunola, E., Jämsä, E. and Makarow, M. 1998. Dissection of the translocation and chaperoning functions of yeast Bip/Kar2p *in vivo*. J. Cell Sci. **111**, 749-757.

Holthuis, J. C. M., Nichols, B. J., Dhruvakumar, S. and Pelham, H. R. B. 1998. Two syntaxin homologues in the TGN/endosomal system of yeast. EMBO J. **17**, 113-126.

Horazdovsky, B. F., Busch, G. R. and Emr, S. D. 1994. Yeast Ypt51p and mammalian Rab5: counterparts with similar function in the early endocytic pathway. J. Cell Sci. **13**, 1297-1309.

Hosono, R., Hekimi, S., Kamiya, Y., Sassa, T., Murakami, S., Nishiwaki, K., Miwa, J., Taketo, A. and Kodaira, K.-I. 1992. The *unc-18* gene encodes a novel protein affecting the kinetics of acetylcholine metabolism in the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Neurochem. **58**, 1517-1525.

Hsu, S.-C., Ting, A. E., Hazuka, C. D., Davanger, S., Kenny, J. W., Kee, Y. and Scheller, R. H. 1996. The mammalian brain rsec6/8 complex. Neuron **17**, 1209-1219.

Hurtley, S. M. and Helenius, A. 1989. Protein oligomerization in the endoplasmic reticulum. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. **5**, 277-307.

Inoue, A., Obata, K. and Akagawa, K. 1992. Cloning and sequence analysis of cDNA for a neuronal cell membrane antigen, HPC-1. J. Biol. Chem. **267**, 10613-10619.

Johannes, L., Tenza, D., Anthony, C. and Goud, B. 1997. Retrograde transport of KDEL-bearing B-fragment of Shiga toxin. J. Biol. Chem. **272**, 19554-19561.

Jungnickel, B. and Rapoport, T. A. 1995. A posttargeting signal sequence recognition event in the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Cell **82**, 261-270.

Jäntti, J., Lahdenranta, J., Olkkonen, V. M., Söderlund, H. and Keränen, S. 1999. *SEM1*, a homologue of the Split hand/split foot malformation candidate gene *Dss1*, regulates exocytosis and pseudohyphal differentiation in yeast. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **96**, 909-914.

Kaiser, C. A., Preuss, D., Grisafi, P. and Botstein, D. 1987. Many random sequences functionally replace the secretion signal sequence of yeast invertase. Science **235**, 312-317.

Kaiser, C. A. and Schekman, R. 1990. Distinct sets of *SEC* genes govern transport vesicle formation and fusion early in the secretory pathway. Cell **61**, 723-733.

Kaiser, C. A., Gimeno, R. E. and Shaywitz, D. A. 1997. Protein secretion, membrane biogenesis, and endocytosis. In: Pringle, J. R., Broach, J. R. and Jones, E. W. (Eds.). The molecular and cellular biology of the yeast *Saccharomyces*. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. Pp. 91-228.

Kaisho, Y., Yoshimura, K. and Nakahama, K. 1989. Increase in gene expression by respiratory-deficient mutation. Yeast **5**, 91-98.

Kalies, K.-U., Görlich, D. and Rapoport, T. A. 1994. Binding of ribosomes to the rough endoplasmic reticulum mediated by the Sec61p-complex. J. Cell Biol. **126**, 925-934.

Kalies, K.-U. and Hartmann, E. 1998. Protein translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). Two similar routes with different modes. Eur. J. Biochem. **254**, 1-5.

Kalies, K.-U., Rapoport, T. A. and Hartmann, E. 1998. The β subunit of the Sec61 complex facilitates cotranslational protein transport and interacts with the signal peptidase during translocation. J. Cell Biol. **141**, 887-894.

Katagiri, H., Terasaki, J., Murata, T., Ishihara, H., Ogihara, T., Inukai, K., Fukushima, Y., Anai, M., Kikuchi, M., Miyazaki, J.-I., Yazaki, Y. and Oka, Y. 1995. A novel isoform of syntaxin-binding protein homologous to yeast Sec1 expressed ubiquitously in mammalian cells. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 4963-4966.

Kee, Y., Yoo, J.-S., Hazuka, C. D., Peterson, K. E., Hsu, S.-C. and Scheller, R. H. 1997. Subunit structure of mammalian exocyst complex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **94**, 14438-14443.

Knittler, M., Dirks, S. and Haas, I. 1995. Molecular chaperones involved in protein degradation in the endoplasmic reticulum: quantitative interaction of the heat shock cognate protein Bip with partially folded immunoglobulin light chains that are degraded in the endoplasmic reticulum. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **92**, 1764-1768.

Knop, M., Finger, A., Braun, T., Hellmuth, K. and Wolf, D. H. 1996. Der1, a novel protein specifically required for endoplasmic reticulum degradation in yeast. EMBO J. **15**, 753-763.

Kornfeld, R. and Kornfeld, S. 1985. Assembly of asparagine-linked oligosaccharides. Annu. Rev. Biochem. **54**, 631-664.

Kotylak, Z. and El-Gewely, R. 1991. A genetic analysis of an alpha-amylase super-secretor in yeast; implications for the regulatory pathway. Curr. Genet. **20**, 181-184.

Krieg, U. C., Walter, P. and Johnson, A. E. 1986. Photocrosslinking of the signal sequence of nascent preprolactin to the 54-kilodalton polypeptide of the signal recognition particle. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **83**, 8604-8608.

Kuismanen, E. and Saraste, J. 1989. Low temperature-induced transport blocks as tools to manipulate membrane traffic. Meth. Cell Biol. **32B**, 257-274.

Kurihara, T. and Silver, P. 1993. Suppression of a *sec63* mutation identifies a novel component of the yeast endoplasmic reticulum translocation apparatus. Mol. Biol. Cell **4**, 919-930.

Kurzchalia, T. V., Wiedmann, M., Girshovich, A. S., Bochkareva, E. S., Bielka, H. and Rapoport, T. A. 1986. The signal sequence of nascent preprolactin interacts with the 54K polypeptide of the signal recognition particle. Nature **320**, 634-636.

Kutay, U., Hartmann, E. and Rapoport, T. A. 1993. A class of membrane proteins with a C-terminal anchor. Trends Cell Biol. **3**, 72-75.

Kutay, U., Ahnert-Hilger, G., Hartmann, E., Wiedenmann, B. and Rapoport, T. A. 1995. Transport route for synaptobrevin via a novel pathway of insertion into the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. EMBO J. **14**, 217-223.

Letourneur, F., Gaynor, E. C., Hennecke, S., Démollière, C., Duden, R., Emr, S., Riezman, H. and Cosson, P. 1994. Coatomer is essential for retrieval of dilysine-tagged proteins to the endoplasmic reticulum. Cell **79**, 1199-1207.

Lew, D. J. and Simon, S. M. 1991. Characterization of constitutive exocytosis in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Membr. Biol. **123**, 261-268.

Lewis, M. J., Sweet, D. J. and Pelham, H. R. 1990. The *ERD2* gene determines the specificity of the lumenal ER protein retention system. Cell **61**, 1359-1363.

Lewis, M. J. and Pelham, H. R. B. 1996. SNARE-mediated retrograde traffic from the Golgi complex to the endoplasmic reticulum. Cell **85**, 205-215.

Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Yuan, L. C., Bonifacino, J. S. and Klausner, R. D. 1989. Rapid redistribution of Golgi proteins into the ER in cells treated with brefeldin A: evidence of membrane cycling from Golgi to ER. Cell **56**, 801-813.

Lippincott-Schwartz, J., Donaldson, J. G., Schweizer, A., Berger, E. G., Hauri, H.-P., Yaun, L. C. and Klausner, R. D. 1990. Microtubule-dependent retrograde transport of proteins into the ER in the presence of brefeldin A suggests an ER recycling pathway. Cell **60**, 821-836.

Liu, H. and Bretscher, A. 1992. Characterization of *TPM1* disrupted yeast cells indicates an involvement of tropomyosin in directed vesicular transport. J. Cell Biol. **125**, 285-299.

Lupashin, V. V. and Waters, M. G. 1997. t-SNARE activation through transient interaction with a Rab-like GTPase. Science **276**, 1255-1258.

Lyman, S. K. and Schekman, R. 1995. Interaction between Bip and Sec63p is required for the completion of protein translocation into the ER of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Cell Biol. **131**, 1163-1171.

Lyman, S. K. and Schekman, R. 1997. Binding of secretory precursor polypeptides to a translocon subcomplex is regulated by Bip. Cell **88**, 85-96.

Martegani, E., Forlani, N., Mauri, I., Porro, D., Schleuning, W. D. and Alberghina, L. 1992. Expression of high levels of human tissue plasminogen activator in yeast under the control of inducible GAL promoter. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. **37**, 604-608.

Martoglio, B., Hofmann, M. W., Brunner, J. and Dobberstein, B. 1995. The protein-conducting channel in the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum is open laterally toward the lipid bilayer. Cell **81**, 207-214.

Matlack, K. E. S., Plath, K., Misselwitz, B. and Rapoport, T. A. 1997. Protein transport by purified yeast Sec complex and Kar2p without membranes. Science **277**, 938-941.

Matlin, K. S. and Simons, K. 1983. Reduced temperature prevents transfer of membrane glycoprotein to the cell surface but does not prevent terminal glycosylation. Cell **34**, 233-243.

McClellan, A. J., Endres, J. B., Vogel, J. P., Palazzi, D., Rose, M. D. and Brodsky, J. L. 1998. Specific molecular chaperone interactions and an ATP-dependent conformational change are required during posttranslational protein translocation into the yeast ER. Mol. Biol. Cell **9**, 3533-3545.

McCracken, A. A. and Kruse, K. B. 1993. Selective protein degradation in the yeast exocytic pathway. Mol. Biol. Cell **4**, 729-736.

McCracken, A. A. and Brodsky, J. L. 1996. Assembly of ER-associated protein degradation *in vitro*: Dependence on cytosol, calnexin and ATP. J. Cell Biol. **132**, 291-298.

McKnight, M. H. and McConaughy, B. L. 1983. Selection of functional cDNAs by complementation in yeast. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **80**, 4412-4416.

Miller, J. D., Tajima, S., Lauffer, L. and Walter, P. 1995. The β subunit of the signal recognition particle receptor is a transmembrane GTPase that anchors the

 α subunit, a peripheral membrane GTPase, to the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. J. Cell. Biol. **128**, 273-282.

Moir, D. T. and Dumais, D. R. 1987. Glycosylation and secretion of human alpha-1-antitrypsin by yeast. Gene **56**, 209-216.

Mondésert, G., Clarke, D. J. and Reed, S. I. 1997. Identification of genes controlling growth polarity in the budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: A possible role of N-glycosylation and involvement of the exocyst complex. Genetics **147**, 421-434.

Mothes, W., Prehn, S. and Rapoport, T. A. 1994. Systematic probing of the environment of a translocating secretory protein during translocation through the ER membrane. EMBO J. **13**, 3973-3982.

Mulholland, J., Wesp, A., Riezman, H. and Botstein, D. 1997. Yeast actin cytoskeleton mutants accumulate a new class of Golgi-derived secretory vesicle. Mol. Biol. Cell **8**, 1481-1499.

Mullins, C., Meyer, H.-A., Hartmann, E., Green, N. and Fang, H. 1996. Structurally related Spc1p and Spc2p of yeast signal peptidase complex are functionally distinct. J. Biol. Chem. **271**, 29094-29099.

Munro, S. and Pelham, H. R. B. 1987. A C-terminal signal prevents secretion of luminal ER proteins. Cell **48**, 899-907.

Müsch, A., Wiedmann, M. and Rapoport, T. A. 1992. Yeast Sec proteins interact with polypeptides traversing the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Cell **69**, 343-352.

Nair, J., Müller, H., Peterson, M. and Novick, P. 1990. Sec2 protein contains a coiled-coil domain essential for vesicular transport and a dispensable carboxy terminal domain. J. Cell Biol. **110**, 1897-1909.

Neuhof, A., Rolls, M.M., Jungnickel, B., Kalies, K.-U. and Rapoport, T. A. 1998. Binding of signal recognition particle gives ribosome/nascent chain complexes a competitive advantage in endoplasmic reticulum membrane interaction. Mol. Biol. Cell **9**, 103-115.

Ng, D. T. W., Brown, J. D. and Walter, P. 1996. Signal sequences specify the targeting route to the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. J. Cell Biol. **134**, 269-278.

Nichols, B. J., Ungermann, C., Pelham, H. R. B., Wickner, W. T. and Haas, A. 1997. Homotypic vacualar fusion mediated by t- and v-SNAREs. Nature **387**, 199-202.

Nilsson, T. and Warren, G. 1994. Retention and retrieval in the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi apparatus. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. **6**, 517-521.

Nishiyama, K.-I., Mizushima, S. and Tokuda, H. 1993. A novel membrane protein involved in protein translocation across the cytoplasmic membrane of *Escherichia coli*. EMBO J. **12**, 3409-3415.

Nishiyama, K.-I., Hanada, M. and Tokuda, H. 1994. Disruption of the gene encoding the p12 (SecG) reveals the direct involvement and important function of SecG in the protein translocation of *Escherichia coli* at low temperature. EMBO J. **13**, 3272-3277.

Normington, K., Kohno, K., Kozutsumi, Y., Gething, M. and Sambrook, J. 1989. *S. cerevisiae* encodes as essential protein homologous in sequence and function to mammalian Bip. Cell **57**, 1223-1236.

Novick, P. and Schekman, R. 1979. Secretion and cell-surface growth are blocked in a temperature-sensitive mutant of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **76**, 1858-1862.

Novick, P., Field, C. and Schekman, R. 1980. Identification of 23 complementation groups required for post-translational events in the yeast secretory pathway. Cell **21**, 205-215.

Novick, P., Ferro, S. and Schekman, R. 1981. Order of events in the yeast secretory pathway. Cell **25**, 461-469.

Novick, P. 1985. Intracellular transport mutants of yeast. TIBS 10, 432-434.

Novick, P. and Botstein, D. 1985. Phenotypic analysis of temperature-sensitive yeast actin mutants. Cell **40**, 405-416.

Novick, P. and Brennwald, P. 1993. Friends and family: The role of Rab GTPases in vesicular traffic. Cell **75**, 597-601.

Novick, P. and Zerial, M. 1997. The diversity of Rab proteins in vesicle transport. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 9, 496-504.

Nunnari, J. and Walter, P. 1996. Regulation of organelle biogenesis. Cell 84, 389-394.

Ogg, S. C., Poritz, M. A. and Walter, P. 1992. Signal recognition particle receptor is important for cell growth and protein secretion in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Mol. Biol. Cell **3**, 895-911.

Oh, C.-S., Toke, D. A., Mandala, S. and Martin, C. E. 1997. *ELO2* and *ELO3*, homologues of the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae ELO1* gene, function in fatty acid elongation and are required for sphingolipid formation. J. Biol. Chem. **272**, 17376-17384.

Olkkonen, V. M. and Stenmark, H. 1997. Role of Rab GTPases in membrane traffic. Int. Rev. Cytol. **176**, 1-85.

Ooi, C. E. and Weiss, J. 1992. Bidirectional movement of a nascent polypeptide across microsomal membranes reveals requirements for vectorial translocation of proteins. Cell **71**, 87-96.

Orci, L., Glick, B. S. and Rothman, J. E. 1986. A new type of coated vesicular carrier that appears not to contain clathrin: its possible role in protein transport within the Golgi stack. Cell **46**, 171-184.

Orci, L., Ravazzola, M., Amherdt, M., Perrelet, A., Powell, S. K., Quinn, D. L. and Moore, H.-P. H. 1987. The trans-most cisternae of the Golgi complex: A compartment for sorting of secretory and plasma membrane proteins. Cell **51**, 1039-1051.

Orlean, P. 1997. Biogenesis of yeast wall and surface components. In: Pringle, J. R., Broach, J. R. and Jones, E. W. (Eds.). The Molecular and Cellular Biology of the Yeast *Saccharomyces*. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press. Pp. 229-362.

Ossig, R., Dasher, C., Trepte, H.-H., Schmitt, H. D. and Gallwitz, D. 1991. The yeast *SLY* gene products, suppressors of defects in the essential GTP-binding

Ypt1 protein, may act in endoplasmic reticulum-to-Golgi transport. Mol. Cell. Biol. **11**, 2980-2993.

Palade, G. 1975. Intracellular aspects of the process of protein synthesis. Science **189**, 347-358.

Panzner, S., Dreier, L., Hartmann, E., Kostka, S. and Rapoport, T. A. 1995. Posttranslational protein transport in yeast reconstituted with purified complex of Sec proteins and Kar2p. Cell **81**, 561-570.

Parlati, F., Dominguez, M., Bergeron, J. J. M. and Thomas, D. Y. 1995. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae CNE1* encodes an endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane protein with sequence similarity to calnexin and calreticulin and functions as a constituent of the ER quality control apparatus. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 244-253.

Patel, S. K., Indig, F. E., Olivieri, N., Levine, N. D. and Latterich, M. 1998. Organelle membrane fusion: a novel function for the syntaxin homolog Ufe1p in ER membrane fusion. Cell **92**, 611-620.

Payne, G. S. and Schekman, R. 1985. A test of clathrin function in protein secretion and cell growth. Science **230**, 1009-1014.

Pelham, H. R. B. 1989. Control of protein exit from the endoplasmic reticulum. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. **5**, 1-23.

Pelham, H. R. B. 1993. Is epimorphin involved in vesicular transport? Cell **73**, 425-426.

Penttilä, M. E., André, L., Saloheimo, M., Lehtovaara, P. and Knowles, J. K. C. 1987. Expression of two *Trichoderma reesei* endoglucanases in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Yeast **3**, 175-185.

Pérez-Pérez, J., Márquez, G., Barbero, J.-L. and Gutiérrez, J. 1994. Increasing the efficiency of protein export in *Escherichia coli*. Bio/Technology **12**, 178-180.

Pevsner, J., Hsu, S.-C., Braun, J. E. A., Calakos, N., Ting, A. E., Bennett, M. K. and Scheller, R. H. 1994. Specificity and regulation of the synaptic vesicle docking complex. Neuron **13**, 353-361.

Pfeffer, S. R. and Rothman, J. E. 1987. Biosynthetic protein transport and sorting by the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi. Annu. Rev. Biochem. **56**, 829-852.

Pilon, M., Schekman, R. and Römisch, K. 1997. Sec61p mediates export of a misfolded secretory protein from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cytosol for degradation. EMBO J. **16**, 4540-4548.

Pilon, M., Römisch, K., Quach, D. and Schekman, R. 1998. Sec61p serves multiple roles in secretory precursor binding and translocation into the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Mol. Biol. Cell **9**, 3455-3473.

Piper, R. C., Whitters, E. A. and Stevens, T. H. 1994. Yeast Vps45 is a Sec1plike protein required for the consumption of vacuole-targeted, post-Golgi transport vesicles. Eur. J. Cell Biol. **65**, 305-318.

Plath, K., Mothes, W., Wilkinson, B. M., Stirling, C. J. and Rapoport, T. A. 1998. Signal sequence recognition in posttranslational protein transport across the yeast ER membrane. Cell **94**, 795-807.

Plemper, R. K., Böhmler, S., Bordallo, J., Sommer, T. and Wolf, D. H. 1997. Mutant analysis links the translocon and Bip to retrograde protein transport for ER degradation. Nature **388**, 891-895.

Potenza, M., Bowser, R., Müller, H. and Novick, P. 1992. *SEC6* encodes an 85 kDa soluble protein required for exocytosis in yeast. Yeast **8**, 549-558.

Powers, T. and Walter, P. 1997. Co-translational protein targeting catalyzed by the *Escherichia coli* signal recognition particle and its receptor. EMBO J. **16**, 4880-4886.

Preuss, D., Mulholland, J., Kaiser, C. A., Orlean, P., Albright, C., Rose, M. D., Robbins, P. W. and Botstein, D. 1991. Structure of yeast endoplasmic reticulum: Localization of ER proteins using immunofluorescence and immunoelectron microscopy. Yeast **7**, 891-911.

Protopopov, V., Govindan, B., Novick, P. and Gerst, J. E. 1993. Homologs of the synaptobrevin/VAMP family of synaptic vesicle proteins function on the late secretory pathway in *S. cerevisiae*. Cell **74**, 855-861.

Raden, D. and Gilmore, R. 1998. Signal recognition particle-dependent targeting of ribosomes to the rough endoplasmic reticulum in the absence and presence of the nascent polypeptide-associated complex. Mol. Biol. Cell **8**, 117-130.

Rapoport, T. A. 1992. Transport of proteins across the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Science **258**, 931-936.

Rapoport, T. A., Rolls, M. M. and Jungnickel, B. 1996. Approaching the mechanism of protein transport across the ER membrane. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. **8**, 499-504.

Rayner, J. C. and Pelham, H. R. B. 1997. Transmembrane domain-dependent sorting of proteins to the ER and plasma membrane in yeast. EMBO J. **16**, 1832-1841.

Reimann, B., Bradsher, J., Franke, J., Hartmann, E., Wiedmann, M., Prehn, S. and Wiedmann, B. 1999. Initial characterization of the nascent polypeptide-associated complex in yeast. Yeast **15**, 397-407.

Riento, K., Jäntti, J., Jansson, S., Hielm, S., Lehtonen, E., Ehnholm, C., Keränen, S. and Olkkonen, V. M. 1996. A Sec1-related vesicle-transport protein that is expressed predominantly in epithelial cells. Eur. J. Biochem. **239**, 638-646.

Rine, J. 1991. Gene overexpression studies of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Methods Enzymol. **194**, 239-250.

Roberg, K. J., Rowley, N. and Kaiser, C. A. 1997a. Physiological regulation of membrane protein sorting late in the secretory pathway of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Cell Biol. **137**, 1469-1482.

Roberg, K. J., Bickel, S., Rowley, N. and Kaiser, C. A. 1997b. Control of amino acid permease sorting in the late secretory pathway of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by *SEC13*, *LST4*, *LST7* and *LST8*. Genetics **147**, 1569-1584.

Robinson, A. S., Hines, V. and Wittrup, K. D. 1994. Protein disulfide isomerase overexpression increases secretion of foreign proteins in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Bio/Technol. **12**, 381-384.

Romanos, M. A., Scorer, C. A. and Clare, J. J. 1992. Foreign gene expression in yeast: a review. Yeast **8**, 423-488.

Rose, M., Misra, L. and Vogel, J. 1989. *KAR2*, a karyogamy gene, is the yeast homolog of the mammalian Bip/GRP78 gene. Cell **57**, 1211-1221.

Rothblatt, J. A. and Meyer, D. I. 1986. Secretion in yeast: translocation and glycosylation of prepro- α -factor *in vitro* can occur via an ATP-dependent post-translational mechanism. EMBO J. **5**, 1031-1036.

Rothblatt, J. A., Deshaies, R. J., Sanders, S. L., Daum, G. and Schekman, R. 1989. Multiple genes are required for proper insertion of secretory proteins into the endoplasmic reticulum in yeast. J. Cell Biol. **109**, 2641-2652.

Rothman, J. H. and Stevens, T. H. 1986. Protein sorting in yeast: mutants defective in vacuole biogenesis mislocalize vacuolar proteins into the late secretory pathway. Cell **47**, 1041-1051.

Rothman, J. E. 1987. Protein sorting by selective retention in the endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi stack. Cell **50**, 521-522.

Rothman, J. E. and Söllner, T. H. 1997. Throttles and dampers: controlling the engine of membrane fusion. Science **276**, 1212-1213.

Rout, M. P., Blobel, G. and Aitchison, J. D. 1997. A distinct nuclear import pathway used by ribosomal proteins. Cell **89**, 715-725.

Rudolph, H. K., Antebi, A., Fink, G. R. and Buckley, C. M., Dorman, T. E., LeVitre, J., Davidow, L. S., Mao, J. and Moir, D. T. 1996. The yeast secretory pathway is perturbed by mutations in *PMR1*, a member of a Ca^{2+} ATPase family. Cell **58**, 133-145.

Ruohonen, L., Hackman, P., Lehtovaara, P., Knowles, J. K. C. and Keränen, S. 1987. Efficient secretion of *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* α -amylase by its own signal peptide from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Gene **59**, 161-170.

Ruohonen, L., Penttilä, M. and Keränen, S. 1991. Optimization of *Bacillus* α -amylase production by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Yeast **7**, 337-346.

Ruohonen, L., Aalto, M. K. and Keränen, S. 1995. Modifications to the *ADH1* promoter of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for efficient production of heterologous proteins. J. Biotechnol. **39**, 193-203.

Römisch, K., Webb, J., Herz, J., Prehn, S., Frank, R., Vingron, M. and Dobberstein, B. 1989. Homology of 54K protein of signal-recognition particle, docking protein and two *E. coli* proteins with putative GTP-binding domains. Nature **340**, 478-482.

Römisch, K. and Schekman, R. 1992. Distinct processes mediate glycoprotein and glycopeptide export from the endoplasmic reticulum in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **89**, 7227-7231.

Sadler, I., Chiang, A., Kurihara, T., Rothblatt, J., Way, J. and Silver, P. 1989. A yeast gene important for protein assembly into the endoplasmic reticulum and the nucleus has homology to DnaJ, an *Escherichia coli* heat shock protein. J. Cell. Biol. **109**, 2665-2675.

Sakai, A., Shimizu, Y. and Hishinuma, F. 1988. Isolation and characterization of mutants which show an oversecretion phenotype in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Genetics **119**, 499-506.

Salminen, A. and Novick, P. 1987. A *ras*-like protein is required for a post-Golgi event in yeast secretion. Cell **49**, 527-538.

Salminen, A. and Novick, P. J. 1989. The Sec15 protein responds to the function of the GTP binding protein, Sec4, to control vesicular traffic in yeast. J. Cell Biol. **109**, 1023-1036.

Salzberg, A., Cohen, N., Halachmi, N., Kimchie, Z. and Lev, Z. 1993. The *Drosophila Ras2* and *Rop* gene pair: a dual homology with yeast *Ras*-like gene and a suppressor of its loss-of-function phenotype. Development **117**, 1309-1319.

Sanders, S. L., Whitfield, K. M., Vogel, J. P., Rose, M. D. and Schekman, R. W. 1992. Sec61p and BiP directly facilitate polypeptide translocation into the ER. Cell **69**, 353-365.

Saraste, J. and Kuismanen, E. 1984. Pre- and post-Golgi vacuoles operate in the transport of Semliki forest virus membrane glycoproteins to the cell surface. Cell **38**, 535-549.

Sato, K. and Wickner, W. 1998. Functional reconstitution of Ypt7p GTPase and a purified vacuole SNARE complex. Science **281**, 700-702.

Savitz, A. J. and Meyer, D. I. 1990. Identification of a ribosome receptor in the rough endoplasmic reticulum. Nature **346**, 540-544.

Savitz, A. J. and Meyer, D. I. 1993. 180-kD ribosome receptor is essential for both ribosome binding and protein translocation. J. Cell Biol. **120**, 853-863.

Schekman, R. 1982. The secretory pathway in yeast. TIBS 7, 243-246.

Schekman, R. 1998. Ready... aim ... fire! Nature 396, 514-515.

Schlenstedt, G., Harris, S., Risse, B., Lill, R. and Silver, P. A. 1995. A yeast DnaJ homologue, Scj1p, can function in the endoplasmic reticulum with Bip/Kar2p via a conserved domain that specifies interactions with Hsp70s. J. Cell Biol. **129**, 979-988.

Scidmore, M. A., Okamura, H. H. and Rose, M. D. 1993. Genetic interactions between *KAR2* and *SEC63*, encoding eukaryotic homologues of DnaK and DnaJ in the endoplasmic reticulum. Mol. Biol. Cell **4**, 1145-1159.

Segev, N., Mulholland, J. and Botstein, D. 1988. The yeast GTP-binding Ypt1 protein and a mammalian counterpart are associated with the secretion machinery. Cell **52**, 915-924.

Semenza, J. C., Hardwick, K. G., Dean, N. and Pelham, H. R. B. 1990. *ERD2*, a yeast gene required for the receptor-mediated retrieval of luminal ER proteins from the secretory pathway. Cell **61**, 1349-1357.

Séron, K., Tieaho, V., Prescianotto-Baschong, C., Aust, T., Blondel, M.-O., Guillaud, P., Devilliers, G., Rossanese, O. W., Glick, B. S., Riezman, H., Keränen, S. and Haguenauer-Tsapis, R. 1998. A yeast t-SNARE involved in endocytosis. Mol. Biol. Cell **9**, 2873-2889.

Sherman, F. 1997. Yeast Genetics. In: Meyers, R. A. (Ed.). The Encyclopedia of Molecular Biology and Molecular Medicine. Weinheim: VCH Publ. Pp. 302-325.

Shusta, E. V., Raines, R. T., Plückthun, A. and Wittrup, K. D. 1998. Increasing the secretory capacity of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for production of single-chain antibody fragments. Nature Biotechn. **16**, 773-777.

Shuster, J. R., Moyer, D. L., Lee, H., Dennis, A., Smith, B. and Merryweather, J. P. 1989. Yeast mutants conferring resistance to toxic effects of cloned human insulin-like growth factor I. Gene **83**, 47-55.

Sikorski, R. S. and Hieter, P. 1989. A system of shuttle vectors and yeast host strains designed for efficient manipulation of DNA in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Genetics **122**, 19-27.

Simon, S. M. and Blobel, G. 1991. A protein-conducting channel in the endoplasmic reticulum. Cell **65**, 371-380.

Simon, S. M. and Blobel, G. 1992. Signal peptides open protein-conducting channels in *E. coli*. Cell **69**, 677-684.

Simon, S. M., Peskin, C. S and Oster, G. F. 1992. What drives the translocation of proteins? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **89**, 3770-3774.

Simonen, M., Jämsä, E. and Makarow, M. 1994. The role of the carrier protein and disulfide formation in the folding of β -lactamase fusion proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum of yeast. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 13887-13892.

Simons, J. F., Ferro-Novick, S., Rose, M. D. and Helenius, A. 1995. Bip/Kar2p serves as a molecular chaperone during Carboxypeptidase Y folding in yeast. J. Cell Biol. **130**, 41-49.

Sleep, D., Belfield, G. P., Ballance, D. J., Steven, J., Jones, S., Evans, L. R., Moir, P. D. and Goodey, A. R. 1991. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains that overexpress heterologous proteins. Bio/Technol. **9**, 183-187.

Smith, R. A., Duncan, M. J. and Moir, D. T. 1985. Heterologous protein secretion from yeast. Science **229**, 1219-1224.

Sommer, T. and Jentsch, S. 1993. A protein translocation defect linked to ubiquitin conjugation at the endoplasmic reticulum. Nature **365**, 176-179.

Spang, A. and Schekman, R. 1998. Reconstitution of retrograde transport from the Golgi to the ER *in vitro*. J. Cell Biol. **143**, 589-599.

Steube, K., Chaudhuri, B., Marki, W., Merryweather, J. P. and Heim, J. 1991. α -Factor-leader-directed secretion of recombinant human-insulin-like growth factor I from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Eur. J. Biochem. **198**, 651-657.

Stirling, C. J. and Hewitt, E. W. 1992. The *Saccharomyces cerevisiae SEC65* gene encodes a component of the yeast signal sequence recognition particle with homology to the human SRP19. Nature **356**, 534-537.

Stirling, C. J., Rothblatt, J., Hosobuchi, M., Deshaies, R. and Schekman, R. 1992. Protein translocation mutants defective in the insertion of integral membrane proteins into the endoplasmic reticulum. Mol. Biol. Cell **3**, 129-142.

Suzuki, K., Ichikawa, K. and Jigami, Y. 1989. Yeast mutants with enhanced ability to secrete human lysozyme: Isolation and identification of a protease-deficient mutant. Mol. Gen. Genet. **219**, 58-64.

Syvänen, A.-C., Laaksonen, M. and Söderlund, H. 1986. Fast quantification of nucleic acid hybrids by affinity-based hybrid collection. Nucl. Acids Res. 14, 5037-5048.

Söllner, T., Whiteheart, S. W., Brunner, M., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Geromanos, S., Tempst, P. and Rothman, J. E. 1993. SNAP receptors implicated in vesicle targeting and fusion. Nature **362**, 318-324.

Tazawa, S., Unuma, M., Tondokoro, N., Asano, Y., Ohsumi, T., Ichimura, T. and Sugano, H. 1991. Identification of a membrane protein responsible for ribosome binding in rough microsomal membranes. J. Biochem. **109**, 89-98.

Tellam, J. T., McIntosh, S. and James, D. E. 1995. Molecular identification of two novel Munc-18 isoforms expressed in non-neuronal tissues. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 5857-5863.

TerBush, D. R. and Novick, P. 1995. Sec6, Sec8 and Sec15 are components of a multisubunit complex which localizes to small bud tips in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Cell Biol. **130**, 299-312.

TerBush, D. R., Maurice, T., Roth, D. and Novick, P. 1996. The exocyst is a multiprotein complex required for exocytosis in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. EMBO J. **15**, 6483-6494.

Ting, A. E., Hazuka, C. D., Hsu, S.-C., Kirk, M. D., Bean, A. J. and Scheller, R. H. 1995. rSec6 and rSec8, mammalian homologs of yeast proteins essential for secretion. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **92**, 9613-9617.

Townsley, F. M. and Pelham, H. R. B. 1994. The KKXX signal mediates retrieval of membrane proteins from the Golgi to the ER in yeast. Eur. J. Cell Biol. **64**, 211-216.

Ulbrandt, N. D., Newitt, J. A. and Bernstein, H. D. 1997. The *E. coli* signal recognition particle is required for the insertion of a subset of inner membrane proteins. Cell **88**, 187-196.

Vogel, J. P., Misra, L. M. and Rose, M. D. 1990. Loss of Bip/Grp78 function blocks translocation of secretory proteins in yeast. J. Cell Biol. **110**, 1885-1895.

Voigt, S., Jungnickel, B., Hartmann, E. and Rapoport, T. A. 1996. Signal sequence-dependent function of the TRAM protein during early phases of protein transport across the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. J. Cell Biol. **134**, 25-35.

Wada, Y., Kitamoto, K., Kanbe, T., Tanaka, K. and Anraku, Y. 1990. The *SLP1* gene of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is essential for vacuolar morphogenesis and function. Mol. Cell. Biol. **10**, 2214-2223.

Wada, Y., Nakamura, N., Ohsumi, Y. and Hirata, A. 1997. Vam3p, a new member of syntaxin related protein, is required for vacuolar assembly in yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Cell Sci. **110**, 1299-1306.

Walch-Solimena, C., Collins, R. N. and Novick, P. J. 1997. Sec2p mediates nucleotide exchange on Sec4p and is involved in polarized delivery of post-Golgi vesicles. J. Cell Biol. **137**, 1495-1509.

Walter, P. and Blobel, G. 1980. Purification of a membrane associated protein complex required for protein translocation across the endoplasmic reticulum. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **77**, 7112-7116.

Walter, P. and Blobel, G. 1982. Signal recognition particle contains a 7S RNA essential for protein translocation across the endoplasmic reticulum. Nature **299**, 691-698.

Walter, P. and Johnson, A. 1994. Signal sequence recognition and protein targeting to the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. **10**, 87-119.

Walworth, N. C., Goud, B., Kabcenell, A. K. and Novick, P. J. 1989. Mutational analysis of *SEC4* suggests a cyclical mechanism for the regulation of vesicular transport. EMBO J. **8**, 1685-1693.

Weber, T., Zemelman, B. V., McNew, J. A., Westermann, B., Gmachl, M., Parlati, F., Söllner, T. H. and Rothman, J. E. 1998. SNAREpins: Minimal machinery for membrane fusion. Cell **92**, 759-772.

Werner, E. D., Brodsky, J. L. and McCracken, A. A. 1996. Proteasomedependent endoplasmic reticulum-associated protein degradation: An unconventional route to a familiar fate. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **93**, 13797-13801.

Wichmann, H., Hengst, L. and Gallwitz, D. 1992. Endocytosis in yeast: Evidence for the involvement of a small GTP-binding protein (Ypt7p). Cell **71**, 1131-1142.

Wiedmann, B., Sakai, H., Davis, T. A. and Wiedmann, M. 1994. A protein complex required for signal-sequence-specific sorting and translocation. Nature **370**, 434-440.

Wieland, F. T., Gleason, M. L., Serafini, T. A. and Rothman, J. E. 1987. The rate of bulk flow from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cell surface. Cell **50**, 289-300.

Wiertz, E. J. H. J., Jones, T. R., Sun, L., Bogyo, M., Geuze, H. J. and Ploegh, H. L. 1996a. The human cytomegalovirus US11 gene product dislocates MHC class I heavy chains from the endoplasmic reticulum to the cytosol. Cell **84**, 769-779.

Wiertz, E. J. H. J., Tortorella, D., Bogyo, T., Yu, J., Mothes, W., Jones, T. R., Rapoport, T. A. and Ploegh, H. 1996b. Sec61-mediated transfer of a membrane protein from the endoplasmic reticulum to the proteasome for destruction. Nature **384**, 432-438.

Wilkinson, B. M., Critchley, A. J. and Striling, C. J. 1996. Determination of the transmembrane topology of yeast Sec61p, an essential component of the endoplasmic reticulum translocation complex. J. Biol. Chem. **271**, 25590-25597.

Wilson, D. W., Wilcox, C. A., Flynn, G. C., Chen, E., Kuang, W.-J., Henzel, W. J., Block, M. R., Ullrich, A. and Rothman, J. E. 1989. A fusion protein required

for vesicle-mediated transport in both mammalian cells and yeast. Nature **339**, 355-359.

Wingfield, J. M. and Dickinson, J. R. 1993. Increased activity of a model heterologous protein in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strains with reduced vacuolar proteinases. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. **39**, 211-215.

YaDeau, J. T., Klein, C. and Blobel, G. 1991. Yeast signal peptidase contains a glycoprotein and the *Sec11* gene product. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **88**, 517-521.

Yamasaki, S., Hu, Y., Binz, T., Kalkuhl, A., Kurazono, H., Tamura, T., Jahn, R., Kandel, E. and Niemann, H. 1994. Synaptobrevin/vesicle-associated membrane protein (VAMP) of *Aplysia californica*: Structure and proteolysis by tetanus toxin and botulinal neurotoxins type D and F. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **91**, 4688-4692.

Appendices of this publication are not included in the PDF version. Please order the printed version to get the complete publication (http://www.inf.vtt.fi/pdf/publications/1999/)

VTT PUBLICATIONS

- 370 Laitinen, Jyrki. Evaluation of imaging in automated visual web inspection. 1998. 93 p. + app. 86 p.
- 371 Luonteri, Elina. Fungal α-arabinofuranosidases and α-galactosidases acting on polysaccharides. 1998. 113 p. + app. 59 p.
- 372 Harjunpää, Vesa. Enzymes hydrolysing wood polysaccharides. A progress curve study of oligosaccharide hydrolysis by two cellobiohydrolases and three β -mannanases. 1998. 76 p. + app. 11 p.
- 373 Rantala, Juha. Sol-gel materials for photonic applications. 1998. 50 p. + app. 48 p.
- 374 Lehtilä, Antti & Tuhkanen, Sami. Integrated cost-effectiveness analysis of greenhouse gas emission abatement. The case of Finland. 1999. 145 p. + app. 15 p.
- 375 Niemelä, Eila, Korpipää, Tomi & Tuominen, Arno. Embedded middleware: State of the art. 1999. 102 p. + app. 7 p.
- Puska, Eija Karita. Nuclear reactor core modelling in multifunctional simulators. 1999. 67
 p. + app. 73 p.
- 377 Parmanen, Juhani, Sipari, Pekka & Uosukainen, Seppo. Sound insulation of multi-storey houses. Summary of impact sound insulation. 1999. 22 p.
- 378 Lind, Terttaliisa. Ash formation in circulating fluidised bed combustion of coal and solid biomass. 1999. 79 p. + app. 88 p.
- Simola, Kaisa. Reliability methods in nuclear power plant ageing management. Espoo 1999.
 38 p. + app. 96 p.
- 380 Fan, Youchen, Kokko, Erkki, Pajakkala, Pekka, Virtanen, Markku, Saarimaa, Juho, Tu, Fengxiang, Lang, Siwei, Hu, Shide, Qin, Huahu & Wang, Meijun. Study of possible usage of Finnish building technology in Chinese building development. 1999. 100 p.
- 381 Pingoud, Kim, Mälkki, Helena, Wihersaari, Margareta, Hongisto, Mikko, Siitonen, Sari, Lehtilä, Antti, Johansson, Matti, Pirilä Pekka & Otterström, Tomas. ExternE National Implementation Finland. 1999. 119 p. + app. 131 p.
- 382 Rauma, Tapio. Fuzzy modeling for industrial systems. 1999. 97 p. + app. 40 p.
- 384 Heikkilä, Anna-Mari. Inherent safety in process plant design. An index-based approach. 1999. 129 p.
- 385 Mäkelä, Kimmo K. Characterization and performance of electrorheological fluids based on pine oils. 1999. 71 p.
- 386 Uosukainen, Seppo. JMC method applied to active control of sound. Theoretical extensions and new source configurations. 1999. 69 p. + app. 145 p.
- 388 Nissinen, Marja & Niskanen, Pirjo. COST Scientific Cooperation on Researchers' Terms. A Study of Finnish Participation. 1999. 70 p.
- 389 Toikkanen, Jaana. Functional studies on components of the secretory pathway of Saccharomyces cerevisiae. 1999. 92 p. + app. 61 p.

Tätä julkaisua myy VTT TIETOPALVELU PL 2000 02044 VTT Puh. (09) 456 4404 Faksi (09) 456 4374 Denna publikation säljs av VTT INFORMATIONSTJÄNST PB 2000 02044 VTT Tel. (09) 456 4404 Fax (09) 456 4374 This publication is available from VTT INFORMATION SERVICE P.O.Box 2000 FIN–02044 VTT, Finland Phone internat. + 358 9 456 4404 Fax + 358 9 456 4374

ISBN 951-38-5381-0 (soft back ed.) ISSN 1235-0621 (soft back ed.) ISBN 951-38-5382-9 (URL: http://www.inf.vtt.fi/pdf/) ISSN 1455-0849 (URL: http://www.inf.vtt.fi/pdf/)